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About the Group

Orbit Private Holdings | Ltd (“Orbit”) is a holding company and affiliate of Siris Capital Group. In December 2021,
Orbit acquired Armor Holdce Inc. {"AST"). At the same time, Equiniti Group plc (“Equiniti”) was acquired by Earth
Private Holdings Ltd, a subsidiary of Orbit. Equiniti and AST were cambined to create the Orbit group of companies
trading as EQ (“the Group”). 2022 was the first full year of operation for the new business.

EQ is a leading international provider of shareholder, pension, remediation, and credit technology. With over
6,000 employees, it supports 37 million people in 120 countries. EQ's purpose is to care for every customer and
simplify every transaction, delivered with less of an impact on the environment.

The business comprises five divisions: UK Shareholder Services; US Shareholder Services; Retirement Solutions;
Customer Resglutions; and Credit, Fraud and Analytics.

Key statistics

- 47% of the FTSE 100 work with us

- 15% of the NYSE work with us

- 37 million people benefit from our services

- Offices in 28 locations across the UK, US, India, Poland & the Netherlands
- 6,000+ employees worldwide

Key highlights 2022

- UK Top Employerin 2022

- Top Employer in the UK, US and India for 2023

- Best Governance, Risk & Compliance Programme at the Agility Customer Awards

- Market share of FTSE 100 increased to 47% from 44% in 2021

- Consumer Inclusivity Initiative Award at the Public Trust Awards from the Chartered Insurance institute
- High-profile client wins, including Rolls Royce, HSBC, Saga and Standard Life

- Successful sale of the ICS business in November 2022

- Commitment to Net Zero by 2040 announced
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CEO letter

2022 was a strong year for EQ, despite being a difficult and volatile one for global capital markets. It was also the
first full year of the post-acquisition business strategy. | am pleased to say that significant progress has been made
towards achieving our goal of becoming the world’s leading global share registrar and provider of complementary
products and services. The integration of EQ and AST is cantinuing smoathly, the transformation is progressing to
plan, and we have materially improved the business’s financial performance.

It is particularly encouraging that so much was achieved despite some notable headwinds. With the Russian
invasion of Ukraine turbacharging existing inflationary pressures, capital market activity dropped significantly in
2022, which subsequently impacted EQ’'s event-driven income. [n light of this, the leadership team responded by
implementing a wide range of measures to effectively manage costs, cash and interest income. Through these
measures, which included simplifying the management structure and reducing senior manager roles, the Group
was able to materially increase underlying earnings and exceed the EBITDA budget for the year, albeit with a
different mix of contributors than originally anticipated. The overall loss after tax does not reflect these
improvements due to the changes in our debt structure post-acquisition.

Meanwhile, we maintained our focus on implementing the business strategy, which will transform and align our
operations around our missian. The execution of the plan is built around ten key value drivers, and excellent
progress has been made in every area. We have also streamlined and de-risked the portfolio, winding up
unprofitable legacy activities and selling non-core businesses.

The strategy is already delivering results. Qur investment in leadership development and the launch of new
company values have contributed to greatly improved employee engagement scores and we expect these to
improve further in 2023. Through the integration of our US-based operations, we have achieved significant cost
savings and we are well on the way to transforming our products and services through a phased programme of
digital transfaormation.

Our achievements have also been recognised externally. We were thrilled to be named as a Top Employer in the
UK, US and India in early 2023 and received several awards for our efforts to support vulnerable customers. Qur
risk and compliance programme was also acknowledged as Risk & Compliance Programme of the Year at the
Agility 2022 Customer Awards. Furthermare, in late 2022, Moody’s maintained our credit grade rating and risk
outlook.

It was a year of cansiderable commercial success for EQ, including high-profile client wins for our businesses. The
HSBC Pension Scheme transfer to the Retirement Solutions business was completed a manth early in May 2022,
We were also appointed by Standard Life to administer its bulk purchase annuity pelicies, representing a
promising entry inta a hew market for EQ. The UK Shareho!der Services business also increased its market share
in each of the FTSE 100, the FTSE 250 and the FTSE 350 and the US Sharehaolder Services business now works with
aver 175 clients in the S&P 500,

But nane of these achievements would have been paossible without the hard work and dedication of our
colleagues. Businesses do not achieve success, people da. | am hugely grateful for the individual and collective
efforts of all colleagues across our offices. EQ has a great team, and | am extremely confident that we will build
on our position as a leading player in our core markets.
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I would also like to thank our current clients for their continued loyalty and welcome the many new clients who
chose to work with us in 2022, We really appreciate your business, and we are 100% focused on delivering the
best possible service to you.

Looking ahead, we are very confident that the business will continue to improve its performance in 2023,
Although there is still work te do to address some legacy challenges of EQ, we have clear plans in place to
remediate these issues. The Group’s EBITDA mamentum is much higher entering 2023 and we expect another
increase in earnings, bullding on the growth achieved in 2022. Our strategy is working well and has set us firmly
on the way to achieving our goal of becoming the leading global share registrar.

-

Paul Lynam
CEO-EQ
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Group strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2022

The acquisitions of Equiniti Group plc and AST completed in December 2021 meaning that 2022 was the first full
year of operation as a combined business. The significant progress of the business during the year served to firmly
underscare the [ogic of the investment thesis behind caombining the businesses to create a leading global share
registrar offering complementary products and services to clients. The value creation drivers identified prior to
the acquisitian of both businesses are already yielding results and creating a stronger, more profitable business,
with significant future potential.

A very clear strategy, with ambitious targets, is being implemented at pace by the management team. The timely
and skilful execution of the strategy, while delivering great “business-as-usual” {BAU)) service, remains the primary
objective of the Executive Committee [see Governance section on page 14 for more information). Although
volatile market conditions during the year led to an increased emphasis on robust cost maragement, the core
facus of the strategy did not change, and the Group is tracking well against key milestones.

Progress against our strategic value drivers

The strategy is underpinned by ten value drivers that map a path far EQ to achieve significant efficiencies while
positioning the Group to grow strongly in the future. Focus areas include the integration of our US businesses,
digital transformation throughout the organisation and the creation of a global platform for our shareholder
services businesses.

Clear plans are in place for all drivers, and great progress has already beer achieved for the majority of them.
While some of these initiatives are shorter-term in nature, some, like the creation of a giobal shareholder services
platform, will take longer to implement prudently and efficiently. Nonetheless, all the value drivers are building
important foundations for future growth and resilience of the EQ Group.

Business review

The EQ Group comprises five divisions: UK Shareholder Services; US Shareholder Services; Retirement Solutions;
Customer Resaolutions; and Credit, Fraud and Analytics {"CFA”).

UK Shareholder Services

Previously known as EQ Boardroom, we rebranded the business as UK Shareholder Services during 2022, i offers
a broad range of services, including managing share registers, Annual General Meetings {*AGMs”), corporate
actions, emplayee share plans, custody and dealing services and advisory solutions. A market leader in the UK, it
holds over 15 million shareholder records, sends £60 biilion in payments each year, and looks after 1.1 million
share plan investors.

In June 2022, Thera Prins was appointed as the new CEQ for the UK Shareholder Services division. Having joined
Equiniti in 2016 to lead its retail investor business, she has a proven track record of growing businesses as well as
extensive experience in transformative leadership roles in blue-chip companies. Thera will oversee the
optimisation plan for UK Sharehelder Services, initially focusing an digitising and automating processes to improve
efficiency and customer service.

The division's financial performance was impacted during the year by market and pofitical turbutence leading to
lower event-driven revenue, Despite this, client retenticn was strong and new high-profile clients were won,
increasing market share to 48% of the FTSE 100, 38% of the FTSE 250 and 40% of the FTSE 350. The higher interest
rate environment also benefited the division, offsetting some of the weakness in activity-related income. It
remains a well-run, high-margin business and is positioned to grow strangly when market activity recovers.
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Group strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2022
(continued)

US Shareholder Services

The US Shareholder Services division was created by combining the legacy Equiniti EQ-US division and legacy AST
to create an industry-leading provider of ownership data management, analytics and advisory senvices to public
companies, private companies and mutual funds. Itis the number two transfer agent in the US in terms of market
share, and the number one IPO administrator. It also includes the leading proxy advisory firm D.F. King & Co., Inc.
It provides services to 6.3 million shareholders and works with 35% of the S&P 500.

During 2022, our focus has been on integrating EQ-US and AST. Post-merger integration commenced in 2022 with
several key milestones achieved including the selection of the combined US leadership team, implementation of
a unified go to market strategy, consolidation of benefits plans for employees and the reduction of our real estate
footprint across the US. At the same time, AST employees were migrated onto several EQ IT platforms enabling
the retirement of an approximately 25-year-old legacy AST application.

These integration activities have been executed smoothly and are already achieving material cost savings. When
the integration is complete, we expect the business to be able to leverage its strong position in the US market to
drive growth. This growth will include the expansion of market share across numerous products in the US coupled
with increasing share of wallet of existing clients.

Although event driven and transactional revenues were impacted by market volatility, this was offset somewhat
by higher interest income and lower than pfanned expenses.

Retirement Solutions

The Retirement Solutions division was formerly known as EQ Paymaster and covers pensions and annuity
software, business process outsourcing and payments, employee rewards and benefits, and payments. A new
management team was put in place two years ago, and significant progress has been made te strengthen the
husiness after a number of challenging years.

During the pandemic lockdowns, and for some time afterwards, the number of organisations making discretionary
changes to their pension schemes service providers dropped sharply, and other event-related and project driven
activities were also dampened. There is now a clear plan in place to continue to improve services through
digitisation and straight through processing, reduce costs within the business and increase productivity.

Despite the challenges of recent years, Retirement Sofutions is winning significant clients again and has a
promising future. It operates in a very well established reasonably commaditised, low-cost market, and is now in
a position to recover from seme difficult years by maximising the deployment of its market leading technology.

Customer Resolutions

Customer Resolutions is a specialist division that provides consultancy and technalogy solutions for complex
customer challenges. The business was impacted significantly by the pandemic, as the Financial Conduct Authority
(“"FCA”) paused its pursuits and income related to payment protection insurance (“PP1”) mis-selling dropped away.

As a result, Customer Resolutions’ revenues significantly reduced. However, it is a lean business that operates
with a small fixed-cost team, and a fully variable workforce. With the FCA resuming its enforcement activity, we
expect demand for remediation services to pick up. In particular, we anticipate an uptick in remediation activity
related to Motor Finance as well as callections work as a result of the cost-of-living crisis and increased demand
for Customer Due Diligence work.
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Group strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2022

(continued)

Credit, Fraud and Analytics

The Credit, Fraud and Analytics division helps businesses to build digital capabilities tc combat fraud and automate
consumer and commercial lending. It monitors in excess of £37 billion in lending activity and provides fraud
solutions to 90% of the receivable finance market in the UK.

The impact of reduced consumer confidence against a tightening economic backdrop resulted in a difficult year
for the business as lenders sought to address market uncertainty. Optimisation plans for the division are in train
and progressing well. We streamlined the business to focus on three care services lines, and a significant
investment was made to move core credit services onto a single platform. We are confident that cur strategy will
yield positive results as we focus our attention on building long-term underlying, recurring revenues. Elements of
the division’s business maodel are counter-cyclical, and we have the opportunity to shift focus to suit market
canditions.

Our people

Engaged and committed team members are essential to our efforts to build a stranger business and achieve
cantinued success. Attracting and retaining talent is also crucial to eur mission of becoming the leading global
share registrar.

In 2021, we developed a new People Strategy to help us foster a straonger culture at EQ and enable our colleagues
to thrive. It focuses on five key aspects that support the creation of an environment where everybody feels thay
can build a rewarding career.

Culture and Engagement Learning and Diversity and Performance
Leadership and Experience Talent Inclusion and Reward
[ ]

¢

2022 was the first full calendar year of the new People Strategy, and significant progress has already been made
t0 create a more engaged, aligned and diverse workforce. Employee engagement scores improved significantly in
2022 compared to 2021, and we are working to improve these even further,

We were also named as a Top Employer in the UK in 2022, joining many of the world’s leading organisatians by
being independently audited on topics such as working environment, learning, welibeing and diversity & inclusion.
In 2023, we have built further on this achievement and made excellent progress towards implementing our People
Strategy. This success led us to be awarded Top Employer status in the UK, the US and India,

Culture, leadership and learning

An important step towards establishing a unified culture across EQ was refreshing our corporate values. To do
this, we asked our Global Colleague Farum to lead a collaborative and inclusive process that captured input from
every part of the Group. The output was a set of values that capture the best aspects of EQ,
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Group strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2022
(continued)

usr M E BC PRO
«?- &O O\b ‘?C‘,v \’\,P“ '?4) \@ 3’@
< - o ‘e
o ™
o @ s @ 7 ®
- 2] > O
P O - s
> s ¥ ~ > ~
Cyisn® Dyzwt byogd 10y a¥

The new values were launched in November 2022 via a comprehensive communications campaign that included
physical events in ten global locations. Plans are now in place to embed the values throughout our processes,
including performance and recognition programmes, internal audits and recruitment.

We have alsa invested heavily in leadership skills at EQ. We began by streamlining the management structure and
removing a number of management layers. This led to improved engagement at middle-management levels as
we sought to give all leaders sensible spans of control. We have now begun to rall out the mast significant
investment in our leadership training programme that has ever taken place at EQ. Over 2023, leaders across the
business will have the opportunity to attend LEAP {Learn-Engage-Align-Perform) sessions to develop the skills we
need to build a stronger EQ for the future. EQ’s Executive Committee kicked off the programme in late 2022 as
its first participants. Over 2023, LEAP will be rolled out to ather levels of management, and we expect to see
significant benefits as leaders attend and contribute to the sessians, and then implement key learnings with their
teams.

We want all team members to feel they can build a rewarding, long-term career at EQ, so our learning
programmes are designed to enable people to manage their careers and steer their own development. We were
pleased to see this result in maore than 180 internal promaotions during 2022.

Engagement and experience

One of the priarities of our People Strategy has been to amplify the employee voice at EQ, and we are doing this
by promaoting two-way listening and increasing transparency. Our Global Employee Forum is a great example of
this. The forum includes representatives from all locations and divisions within the organisation and is now
meeting more regularly to give colleagues mare opportunities to share feedback or concerns. We are also working
to raise the profile of these sessions so colleagues are fully aware of when and how they can contribute.

We run regular global ‘all-colleague’ broadcasts, where calleagues are able ta ask real-time guestions of the CEO
and his team. Similar interactive webinars are also hosted in each business division.

The impact of these efforts can be seen in our employee engagement scores, which rase sharply in 2022. We
have implemented a new tool {(Workday Peaken) that allows us to capture real time feedback on employee
engagement, providing insights that we can use to lift our engagement scores even further.

Diversity and inclusion

We have worked hard to improve Diversity & Inclusion {D&I) at EQ over recent years. We believe that a more
inclusive warking environment will help us access untapped pools of talent, strengthen our decision-making and
create a company that better reflects our clients and customers. To achieve this, we have implemented a
comprehensive D&I Strategy that aims to:
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Group strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2022
(continued)

- Improve our diverse recruitment practices and our monitoring of diversity through our UX policy for
giving full and fair consideration to applications for employment that disabled people make to the
company

- Support the organisation through learning and development with the policy for employment, training,
career development and the promotion of disabled people and for the continuing employment and
training of employees who have become disabled while employed by the company

- Adapt our approach to the needs of each location.

- Deliver products and services that are accessible to all.

One of our first steps was establishing colleague-led networks around key shared characteristics or fife
experiences. Qur first four networks were Gender, Multicultural, LGBT+, and Disability & Mental Health. The
response from employees has been very positive, and more than 300 colleagues are now members of a natwork.
The networks have also helped to develop a calendar of activities to make diversity and inclusion a core part of
our internal communications strategy.

We have also delivered a voluntary Inclysivity Charter that has been signed by more than 85% of cur colleagues.
Following the launch of the Charter, unconscious bias training was rolled out to the husiness, in addition to the
mandatory D&I training already provided. Qur networks have also led ‘all-colleagua’ webinars that invite internal
and external experts to share advice and insights on a range of diversity topics.

Our efforts have seen aur D&I metrics improve over recent years: diversity of senior management has improved,
our gender pay gap has narrowed, and we have seen significant uplift in our engagement survey scores on D&I
related questions. We have also been recognised by external bodies for our B&( programme. For example, we
were shortlisted by the HR Excellence Awards in the UX for Best Diversity Strategy.

Performance and reward

We want to attract the best talentin the marketplace, so we are working to make our packages more competitive.
As part of this work, during 2022, we introduced an organisation wide Job-Grading Framework to provide global
consistency and transparency.

In a similar vein, we brought all US employees onto the global employee benefits package. The transition to the
new package included a merger of 401K plans but was completed simply and effectively. We were even able to
secure better deals for all employees due the increased scale and purchasing power of the EQ Group.

To support our employees, we also provide Employee Assistance Programmes (EAP) in all locations. The EAP can
be accessed via an app that encourages use and engagement.

Transforming our products and services

As well as being one of the value drivers of our strategy, the digital transformation of our business underpins the
strategy as a whole. Qur digital capabilities will be a critical enabler of our goal of becaming the leading global
share registrar and previder of complementary products and services to our clients.

By addressing an historical underinvestment in the customer experience at £Q, our digital transformation plans
will enable us to put our clients and customers first and build a better customer experience. It will alsc improve
operational efficiency significantly, while reducing opportunities for human error. Further to this, we are also
striving to madernise our praducts, improve the services we pravide and increase the value we deliver to clients,

Reflecting the impartance of digital transfarmation within the broader optimisation wark, we recently introduced
the rale of Chief Product & Technalagy Gfficer and appointed Craig Smiley to lead EQ's Product and Engineering
Teams. Craig brings a wealth of experience in engineering transformation roles across the fintech, media,
payments and pharma sectors.

10
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(continued)

Product simplification

In 2022, we commenced work to develop a new product strategy, starting with a comprehensive global review of
our current offering. This review will focus on understanding where our products sit across markets, both in terms
of their pricing and profitability as well as their functionality and customer experience. We will also be looking for
opportunities to merge products with similar functionality across our businesses to provide a better customer
experience.

A core focus of this work will be to enhance the value we provide to customers, and to price our products at the
right level so we can continue investing 1o provide high-quality services.

Digital transformation
The global product teams are working to understand where digitisation and automation can be deployed
effectively. Our initial priority is to pursue straight-through processing acress all products.

However, the focus of cur work is not limited to digitising and automating existing tasks, we are also taking the
time to review the business processes around those tasks and the controls needed to secure them. Digitisation is
one part of this process, but we are taking a broader view to determine where our operations need t¢ modernise
further. This broader digital transformation will involve transforming cur business processes and digitising to drive
efficiency, reduce errors, enhance engagement with customers and create new value.

This waork will be essential in laying the foundations for the future growth of our business and enahling us to scale
our global operations.

Technology simplification

We have already achieved good progress towards simplifying our technology. Our early efforts have delivered
cost and efficiency savings, and we are progressing with plans to reduce technology debt across businesses and
streamline our product sets.

The integration of AST is an early example of the success of this simplification work, with the majority of AST
colleagues now on our global End User Computing (“EUC"} platform. We also migrated AST from their legacy and
outdated finance platform to our global instance of Workday, with HR and payroll following in 2023. We are
working to migrate US Shareholder Services onto our global shareholder services platform in 2023, with AST to
follow shortly after.

Looking ahead, we are warking to develop a Global Platform Strategy for shared services and customer portals.
This is being done in conjunction with the development of the new Product Strategy, so we can align our product
and technology approach throughout the organisation.

Our approach is to think glokally, aiming to build once and reuse technology across locations, adapting to local
requirements as needed. This programme of work will also focus on updating legacy programmes and platforms,
identifying and streamlining common capabilities and moving to cloud-based technologies where appropriate.

11
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Group strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2022
{continued)

Environmental, Social & Governance (ESG)

It is important that we achieve our goal of becoming the leading global share registrar in a responsible and
sustainable way. This means advocating for our customers, our local communities, our suppliers, our calleagues
and the environment in the decisions we make. To do this, we are working toa embed responsible business
principles throughout our operations.

Environment

After significant work to understand our carbon footprint, in July 2022, we published our carbon reduction plan
and annaunced our commitment ta achieve Net Zero by 2040. As part of these effgrts, we have made significant
impravements to the completeness and accuracy of greenhouse gas reporting during 2022 and improved the
quality of calculations. We have committed to nearly haive our Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions by 2029.

Our commitments align with the requirements of the Paris Agreement that aims to limit global warming to 1.5°C
(compared to pre-industrial levels). We are also seeking certification from the Science Based Targets initiative
(SBTIi) for our targets.

Carbon Reduction
We have been warking to reduce our carbon emissions since 2018, and most of our UK sites have been powered

by renewable energy sources since then. The shift to a hybrid working madel has also had an impact with a change
to the number of caolleagues commuting to offices. With fewer employees using our offices every day, we were
able to reduce our office space in recent years . This has changed the mix of our emissions across Scope 1, 2 and
3 emissions but the acquisition in 2022 makes direct comparison harder due to the historic reporting differences
between AST and EQ. Further work is needed to allow colleagues to make informed choices about where they
work and the impact this has.

During 2022, EQ has further improved the way we manage environmental impact by improving transparency of
the management systems through the Carbon Disclosure Project and EcoVadis reporting; both of these have
resulted in improved scores. EQ has also improved governance and visibility to move towards formally embedding
active management of carbon within corpcrate decision-making processes.

Inthe ESG report for the pericd ended 31 December 2021 the Group Green House Gas {“GHG”} Carbon emissions
were hased on data available at the time. As noted above the ongoing work carried out during 2022 has allowed
for improvements to the completeness and accuracy of the reporting information and the 2021 disclosure is in
line with the Carbon Reduction Plan published in June 2022, The 2021 emissions figures reported representad a
full year of EQ and nat just the pericd post-acquisition but the carbon intensity disclosure for 2021 was calculated
using post-acquisition revenue, This has been restated using revenue from the whole year to give a more
comparable figure.

Group GHG Carbon emissions in tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent {tCO2e) 2022 2021
Scope 1 1,089 829
Scope 2 2,000 734
Scope 3 2,981 1,284
Total Emissions 6,070 2,847
Group energy use in kilowatt hours (kwh} 2022 2021
Natural gas 6,821,490 7,485,879
Electricity 13,600,653 11,720,993
Total kWh 20,422,143 19,206,872

12
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{continued)

2021
Carbon Intensity 2022 {restated)
Tonnes of CO2 per £1m revenue 9.6 6.7
Tonnes of CO2 per capita 0.9404 0.45809

Measurement Methodology
Scope 1, 2 and 3 global emissions have been reported and recorded in accordance with Streamlined Energy &

Carbon Reporting Guidance {2019} and the Greenhouse Gas Reporting Protocol corporate standard. The
calculations use the appropriate UK government emission conversion factors for greenhouse gas company
reporting.

A summary of what is included in EQ's carbaon calculations for each Scape category:

Scope 1 Scope 2 Scope 3
Fuel combustion Purchased electricity Purchased goods and services
Fugitive {unintentional) emissions Business travel

Employee commuting
Home working

Waste

Water

Looking ahead, EQ is committed to further carbon reduction projects during 2023, our plans include broadening
the use of LED lighting in aur offices and centralising our data centres into energy efficient co-location facilities.
We are installing electric vehicle charge paints at offices in Worthing and Crawley as a pilot for the wider estate.
We will also work with our third-party suppliers to reduce carbon throughout our supply chain and help our clients
to reduce their carban footprints through digitisation. Additionally, EQ is encouraging and supporting our staff to
work and cammute in the lowest carbon-intensive way.

Social

Caring for every customer

We strive to incorporate our purpose - ta care for every customer and simplify every transaction - into everything
we do.

We focus particularly on understanding and addressing the needs of vulnerable custamers. Our colleagues are
trained to identify potentially vulnerable customers and support them appropriately. This work has been
recognised externally, and we have won awards for our initiatives to support vulnerable customers. in 2022, the
Retirement Solutions division won the Consumer inclusivity Initiative Award at the Chartered Insurance
Institute’s Public Trust Awards. It also won the Impact on Customer Experience Award at the PMI Pinnacle
Awards.

Supporting communities

We also want o support the communities where we live and work. We have a passionate team that is involved
with a multitude of charities that are often persanally significant to them. To enable and amplify their efforts, we
rolled out a global volunteering day programme in 2022. All employees are now able to claim up te two days in
lieu of time spent volunteering in their local community. The allacation is flexible for colleagues who are not able
ta volunteer in the week, as our approach enables them to volunteer at the weekends and still claim time back
during the week.
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The business also contributes to our communities through partnerships with local schools and colleges that aim
to support social maobility and educational opportunities for young people. Through these relationships, we are
regularly involved in offering work experience placements, sponsoring schoal fundraising activities and running
employability workshaops.

An inspiring and inclusive working environment
We want our work to be interesting, provide challenge and be enjoyable. To that end, we have implemented a

comprehensive People Strategy described in more detail in the ‘Our People’ section above, it covers:

- Culture and Leadership

- Engagement and Experience
- Learning and Talent

- Diversity and Inclusion

- Performance and Reward

Governance

We have strang governance processes and structures to deliver alignment with and accountability for our
business strategy. Our governance framework provides oversight to ensure responsible operations throughout
the organisation. Through appropriate delegation of responsibility and upward reporting to the Board, ali key
stakeholders have full visibility of material issues.

The Board operates a robust enterprise risk management framework, with appropriate monitoring in place to
ensure its effectiveness. Our approach is supperted by a policy and control framework, which guides and informs
our colleagues’ wark behaviours and the decisions they make.

We have specialist risk management teams, both centrally and across all locations, that help to embed a risk
management culture. Our risk programme is aligned with global standards and, in 2022, we won an award for the
Gavernance, Risk & Campliance Programme of the Year at the Agility Customer Awards.

All our employees are expected to comply with the highest standards of behaviour and business conduct, and we
have robust whistleblowing mechanisms that enable anonymous reporting of any wrongdeing or concerns.
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Financial performance

Overview

2022 was a very good year for EQ, with the business strategy and transfarmation plans already delivering clear
benefits and creating a business that is positioned ta perform strongly. Despite challenging market conditions,
revenue increased by 9.5% to £630.6m (2021: £576.1m, aon a pro forma basis) and underlying EBITDA increased
by 39.6% to £143.8m (2021: £103.0m, on a pro forma basis) as we have continued to expand our share in core
markets.

The business enjoyed healthy underlying cash generation, supported by greater interest income. Overall EQ has
achieved stronger profit margins and a high level of profit to cash conversion. Meanwhile, capex was flat or
declining across all divisions.

While underlying earnings materially improved from the prior year, the Group did generate a loss before tax of
£372.4m (2021: loss before tax of £48.7m). The loss before tax was mostly as a result of non-cash items; a full
year of amortisation of acquired intangibles and amortisation on the fair valued software was £38.5m in 2022
{2021: £7.8m); the impairment of goodwill and acquired intangibles of £206.3m; and finance costs of £136.8m
(2021: £5.9m), which includes non-cash fareign exchange losses of £42.3m {2021: £nil). The finance costs increase
is the opposing result of interest rate changes that have benefitted the interest income.

The Group holds derivatives to hedge against movements in interest rates which are recognised in the statement
of financial position at fair value. The mark-to-market movements recognised in 2022 gave rise to an unrealised
loss of £43.2m which is recognised in the hedging reserve.

EBITDA and Underlying EBITDA

EBITDA is the most suitable indicator to explain the operating perfarmance of the Group. The definition of EBITDA
is earnings before net financing interest costs, income tax, depreciation of property, plant and equipment,
amartisation of software and amortisation of acquired intangible assets.

Underlying EBITDA is used to explain the sustainable operating performance of the Group and its respective
divisions, where EBITDA is adjusted for nan-operating items, These are defined as expense items, which, if
included in EBITDA, would otherwise obscure the understanding of the underlying performance of the Group.

Underlying EBITDA for the year ended 31 December 2022 reconciles to EBITDA as follows:

2022
£m

Revenue 630.6
Operating costs (486.8)
Underiying EBITDA 143.8
Non-operating charges:
Loss on disposal of business (20.6}
Cost to achieve synergies {16.2}
Other deal related expenses (13.2}
Share-based payments {4.1)
Other {4.4) {58.5)
EBITDA 853
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Market impacts

The results were achieved despite the turbulent market environment in 2022, which brought challenges as well
as benefits for EQ. Falling markets served to suppress corporate actions and reduced revenue from high-value
event-driven activity. At the same time, high inflation drave up our costs. However, offsetting these impacts, the
higher interest rate environment translated into much higher interest income for the business, and ultimately
improved underlying earnings significantly.

Optimisation plans progress

Importantly, the investment thesis that supparted the acquisition and integration of EQ and AST is coming to
fruition. This thesis was converted into a clear and detailed business strategy by the new management team, and
the impact of the transformation programme can already be seen in the business results.

Cost savings have been achieved in line with projections, by reducing headcount and finding synergies through
integration activities. Significant efficiency benefits have also been realised, and we expect more in the coming
years.

Business improvement activities have also benefitted financial performance. We have wound down unprofitable,
riskier legacy activities. We have also streamlined the Group portfolio through the sale of Equiniti ICS Ltd. Qur
wark to simplify our products and technology platforms has alsa yielded cost savings.

During 2022 we also implemented improved management ccntrols. This included a stronger governance
framework as well as enhanced perfoermance reporting. We are now better placed to understand and analyse the
prefitability of the business.

Locking ahead, the work done during 2022 has addressed many of the underlying problerms that previously
impacted the Group's margin and has positioned it to grow substantially in the future. EBITDA momentum is very
strong leading into 2023, and we expect to see another year of good growth.

Impairment of intangible assets

Each year, the Group performs an impairment test to ensure that the carrying value of intangible assets exceeds
their recoverable amount, either from use or through sale. The Group allocates its intangible assets to
cash-generating units {CGUs), which are the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other groups of assets. The Group’s CGUs have been identified
as; UK Shareholder Services; US Shareholder Services; Retirement Solutions; Customer Resolutions; Credit, Fraud
& Analytics (“CFA”); and Other Digital.

The outcame of the impairment assessment was an impairment loss recognised against intangible assets in
Customer Resolutions, CFA and Other Digital. The impairment loss recognised in the consolidated income
statement for the year ended 31 December 2022 is £206.3 milion (2021: £nil).

Whilst the impairment assessment indicated the value of the intangible assets in Customer Resoluticns, CFA and
Other Digital exceeded the recoverable amount, we noted moderate headrcom in Retirement Solutions and
significant headroom in UK and US Shareholder Services.

Overall, the indicative value to be generated from the combined six CGUs exceeds the carrying value of the
Group’s assets, which gives management comfort that the Group’s perfarmance is heading in the right direction.

Further details on the impairment review can be found in note 4.5.
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Performance across divisions

UK Shareholder Services

Revenue declined by 5.1% to £128.8 million, while underlying EBITDA declined by 19.8% to £29.9 million. UK
Shareholder Services underlying EBITDA excludes interest income.

The decline in revenue and profitability was partly driven by the sale of the EQj business in June 2021. However,
revenue was also impacted by the timing of event-driven revenues, namely corporate actions, which clients have
delayed. In addition, a number of new projects that were expected to materialise during 2022 were postponed
or cancelled by clients. Project revenues in the share registration business were lower than anticipated and share
dealing volumes continued to be supressed.

US Shareholder Services

2022 was the first year of operations for EQ US and AST as a combined business, however, revenues and
underlying EBITDA were lower in 2022 compared to the 12-month period ending 31 December 2021, on a
proforma basis.

Revenue for the year was £218.6 miilion, while underlying EBITDA was £29.4 miilion. US Shareholder Services
underlying EBITDA excludes interest income.

2021 benefited from a number of corporate actions, notably from General Electric Company and The Green Bay
Packers, which did nat reoccur in 2022. There was also a slowdown in bankruptcy volumes and lower activity from
proxy services for mutual funds, The impact was partially offset with higher transfer agency and EQ Unify
revenues. The business has benefited from integration activities driving a lower cost basis and business
efficiencies boosting performance.

Retirement Solutions
Revenue rose by 4.1% to £108.9 million, while underlying EBITDA rose by 77.4% to £1.9 million. Retirement
Solutions underlying EBITDA excludes interest income.

Whilst the division benefitted from a number of new clients transferring their business to EQ during 2022,
performance continues to be impacted by a low level of discretionary activity, The oversll number of clients opting
to change provider continues to be lower than we expect, given the difficult market conditions. The business also
saw an increase in costs during 2022 as significant effarts were invested in the relet of the Civil Service Pension
Scheme.

Customer Resolutions
Revenue fell by 6.7% to £44.6 million, while underlying EBITDA fell by 33.3% to £5.0 million.

There was a decline in revenues and profitability as remediation of payment protection insurance claims in the
prior year were only partially replaced during 2022, and often with work that generated lower margins. The
demand for services from the Charter platform was also lower than anticipated. The business performance was
also impacted by continued low demand for remediation services due to the pause in FCA enforcement activities
during the COVID-18 pandemic.

Credit, Fraud & Analytics
Revenue declined by 0.1% to £29.9 million, while underlying EBITDA fell by 61.4% to £4.4 million.

Revenue was impacted by lower spending fram clients in volatile market conditions.

interast income

As central banks began to increase interest rates during 2022, the Group saw a significant increase in the interest
income generated. Interest income for 2022 was £86.5 million, which was a significant increase from the £18.1m
recognised for 2021. The average client balances administered throughout 2022 was £5.3 billion,

17



Orbit Private Holdings | Ltd
Registration number: 13408201

Group strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2022
(continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties

We operate in highly regulated and complex environments, so it is imperative that we effectively identify,
evaluate, manage and mitigate both the existing and emerging risks that we might face.

Qur approach to risk management

Managing risk effectively is fundamental to delivering our strategy and achieving our ambition to become the
leading global share registrar offering complementary services. A robust risk management cuiture is alsg vital for
enabling responsible business practices and sustainable growth.

Qur approach to risk is supported by a policy and contral framework, which guides and informs our colleagues’
wark behaviours and the decisions they make. Our risk culture and risk appetite support effective decision-making
and enahble us to deliver against our strategic priorities.

Our risk appetite

The Board has agreed a level of risk appetite for each of the key risks that we face, enabling the business to focus
appropriately on those that need additional attention. Risks that are within our appetite might need na mitigation,
but we monitor them actively in case that should change. Given the nature of our services and the regulatory
environment we operate in, we have a low appetite for many risks that we face and no appetite for breaches of
policy or controls in certain critical areas, such as regulatory reporting ar anti-money laundering controls.

Principal Risks

[ GROUP RISK CATEGORY IMPACT MITIGATION
Data Protection The {oss, corruption or + Dedicated Data Protection
Risk of loss, corruption, or compromise of personal data Office.

compromise of persanal data {also
known as personally identifiable
information) which can relate to
custaomers, staff or any

other individual.

could lead to a poor customer
experience, customer detriment,
reputational harm, regulatory,
legal or financial sanction, loss of
customers and increased costs.

+ Staff training and awareness
programmes supported by
formal attestations.

+ Group wide platform for

recording of all data events,

data right requests and
privacy impact assessments.

First-line ownership of data

protection risk.

Camprehensive security

mechanisms, including

scanning for movements of
personal data.

» Encrypticn of stored and
transmitted personal data and
regular data back-up.
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Information Technology

Risk of poor performance or
outage of IT systems as a result of
a fzilure of desigh or maintenance

The failure of a system or
application could lead to the
failure to provide a material client
or market service, including a
breach of our regulatory or legal
abligations.

Targeted investment to align
certain legacy technology to
our strategic Sirius platform
that underpins our glabal
shareholder business, giving
us a sustainable, supportable
global system of record.
Continual performance
monitoring of the internal and
external IT environment.

Risk based planning and
prioritisation of IT
development and operational
resources.

Market

Risk of exposure to changes in
market rates, including interest
and foreign exchange {FX}, leading
to reduction in income or
unplanned losses resulting from a
failure of contrals to manage
exposure,

Reduction in incame or losses
incurred by exposure to market
rates or instruments, including
interest incurred on our debt
obligations and the interest
earned on cash balances held on
behalf of customers.

.

Direct exposure to market
risks is limited to those
associated with execution
only, employee benefits (such
as defined benefit) and market
risk mitigation strategies.
Highly orobable FX
transactional exposures may
be hedged for a period of up
to 12 months.

The Group will aim to match
the currency of its assets and
liabilities to mitigate FX
translational exposures.
Where this is not possible,
derivatives may be used.

Itis the Group's policy to
hedge account under IFRS 9
where appropriate to do so.
The Group’s contracting basis
for fee income is being
managed actively towards a
compensation for services
principle as opposed to being
reliant cninterest incame,
The Group has a level of
contractual protection far
negative interest rates and is
actively extending this
protection with clients.

Fraud

Increased risk of fraud due to the
ecanomic downturn affecting our
clients, customers and colleagues,
increased sophistication of fraud
schemes including those by
organised crime, and
inappropriate access to data.

Increased probability of events
and greater disruption and
financial loss for EQ and our
custamers, legal sanctions, poar
customer experience, reputational
damage and increased cost.

Dedicated Group Fraud Office
and enterprise-wide event
reporting.

Periodic revisions to staff
training and awareness
programmes,

First line ownership of fraud
risk.

Security measures to prevent
unauthorised access to
systems and premises and to
protect personnel.
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Security

Cyber risk, involving the disruption
or corruption of systems and
connectivity, or loss or leakage of
data from accidental or malicious
actions.

Risks arising from a physical
security breach including property
damage, staff injury, theft, or
inappropriate access to premises,
systems, or information.

Aninformation or physical
security breach could reduce the
quality of our services to
customers or result in us
breaching the law {including data
protection), or our contracts,
which in turn could damage our
reputation, increase our costs and
reduce our revenues.

Comprehensive protection,
detection and response
security mechanisms
deployed.

Independently certified
1SQ27001 security control
framewark.

Regular independent SOC2
verification of secure
operation of key services.
Continuous monitoring for
security events and new cyber
threats, and regular
independent penetration
testing of all systems.
Rigoraus control over physical
and systems access, based on
need to know/reach.

Annual mandated staff
training and awareness
programmes.

Strategy and Business Risk

Risk of lower corporate
performance stemming from:

» a failure to identify or
understand strategic market
oppaortunities;

+ a failure to react to a valatile
economic environment inclusive
of trends and shocks;

« the emergence of alternative
competing markets, such as digital
transformation;

* a change in customer outloak;
and

« products that fail to meet the
demands of our clients and
prospective clients or that do not
comply with our regulatory or
legal obligations.

Loss of key clients or failure to win
new business, which couid
significantly affect our revenues,
profits, margins and customer
satisfaction.

Executive and Board focus on
propositional design and
service enhancement.
Executive and Board review of
core products and markets,
supported by external
advisars.

Strategic investment and
divestment.

A well-diversified client base
and portfolio of services.
Manitoring of macro-
economic factors, changes in
demand, the competitive
environment, and new
technologies, to assure
effective modelling and
forecasting.

Group-wide product
governance policy and
controls deployed.
Monitoring of trends in
corporate actions and other
market activity.

Investment in the Group's
core technology and
platforms.
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People

Risk of reduced colleague
engagement, low morale,

ar strategic mismatch in skills and
capabilities.

Failure to effectively support
growth, deliver effective services,
develop new technology and
enable growth and personal
development.

Ongoing challenges with
engagement and emotional
wellbeing of colleagues as a result
of responses to the pandemic
which could result in excessive
attrition rates.

Strategy in place to protect,
retain and develop high-
calibre people.

Promotion of the Group’s
values and behaviours to all
staff.

Remuneration policies linked
to appropriate staff behaviour.
Skills and resource
management aligned with
customer needs.

Emplayee engagement
forums, surveys, and action
plans.

Diversity and inclusion groups.
Active manitoring and
management of gender pay
gap.

Resilient distributed warking
capability.

QOrganisational Resilience

Risk of stow, flawed or failed
operational recovery foliowing
unexpected events, such as loss of
a building, pandemic or major {T
system failure.

Failure to effectively plan for and
manage unexpected events could
lead to a poor customer
experience, customer detriment,
reputational harm, regulatory
sanction, loss of customers, lower
productivity, reduced revenues
and increased costs.

.

Businass continuity and
disaster recovery plans in
place and tested regularly.
Dual hosting of all critical
servers, telecommunications
and appiications.

Separate business continuity
disaster recovery workplaces
available, where appropriate,
Liaison with regulated clients
to ensure their own resilience.
Crisis and resilience testing.
Effective, tested and secure
remote working capability.

Purchasing, Supply and
Qutsourcing

Risk of a business-critical partner,
subcontractor cr supplier failing to
deliver and/or perform to the
required standards.

Partner, subcontractor ar supplier
failure could result in EQ being
unable to meet its customer
obligations or perform critical
business operations.

This could result in reputational
impact, reduced business agility,
customer detriment, increased
cost and lower revenue.

Pracurement due diligence
policies and standards
deployed, including alignment
to modern slavery and ESG
requirements.

Deployment of online vendor
risk management tool.

Key supplier financial,
resiliency and security reviews
undertaken regularly.
Supplier failure risk considered
as part of our own resilience
planning.
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Regulatory

Risk of regulatory action stemming
from weaknesses ar faijlure in
areas, including: analysis of
regulations, laws and codes;
development of appropriate
policies, processes and controls;
training and education of first-line
teams; effectiveness of first-line
surveillance in identifying and
preventing breaches; and Board
and senior management
governance and chgagement on
regulatory matters.

Failure by EQ to adhere to any of
its legal or regulatory
requirements could lead to legal
and regulatory sanctions, redress
costs, reputational risk, contract
breach and, ultimately, loss of
operating licences or invalid
contracts, resulting in reduced
revenues,

Dedicated sccond line risk,
security, data protection and
compliance teams,
Monitoring for upcoming
regulatory change and
amendments.

Capital investment
programme to manage
regulatory change,

Training and awareness
programme for all staff
working in regulated areas.
Separate legal entities used
for regulated activities with
their own Boards and
gavernance.

Conduct

Risk of the business being unable
to demonstrate and document
good corporate, staff or market
conduct, for example: Board,
executive and senior management
leadership of the carparate
culture; identifying and managing
cenflicts of interest; or controlling
staff behaviour which could result
in potential market abuse.

Poor ¢canduct could lead to sub-
optimal decision making,
customer detriment, poor staff
experience, legal or regulatory
sanction, increased counterparty
risk-based pricing, reduced
availability of counterparties and
reputational harm.

.

Conduct risk measures which
demonstrate how products
and services perform for
customers.

Root cause analysis of
operaticnal errors and
failures.

Clear customer
accountabilities far staff.

Staff reward driven by
customer-centric metrics.
Framework in place to identify
and support vulnerahle
customers.

Monitoring for changes in
governance requirements and
standards.

Training and policy
attestations for all staff.

Material Change

Risk of disruptive change leading
to lower business agility, lower
productivity, regulatory sanction,
poor customer relationships,
increased costs and lower
revenues.

A continuing or rapidly increasing
level of change and development
may lead to material management
and resource stretch. This could
impact the Group’s ability to
achieve its key business objectives
resulting in loss of customers and
lower revenues.

Key change projects aligned
with the Group’s principal risk
mitigation plans.

Key change projects
supported by dedicated
programme management and
reporting.

Investment in staff, resources
and expertise to deliver
change.
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Liquidity

Risk that the Group will not be
able to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due.

.

Ensure sufficient
liquidity to meet its
liabilities when due,
under hoth normal and
stressed conditions.
The Group prepares
cash flow forecasts on a
regular basis

Ensure that minimum
committed funding
headroom is above the
minimum policy
threshold at all times.

Credit

Risk of financial loss to the Group
if a client or counterparty,
including brokers, to a financial
instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations. The
Group's credit risk exposure is to
its financial assets, being cash and
cash equivalents, derivatives,
trade receivables and contract
fulfiiment assets.

-

Strict controls and
monitaring of the credit
ratings of institutions
High proportion of the
customer base are large
listed companies and
public sector
organisations.

Credit checks on
potential customers
before business is
undertaken.

Financial Risk Management

The Group’s approach to financial risk management s set out in note 6.10 to the cansaolidated financial statements
and discusses the Group's strategy and objectives for managing credit, liquidity and market risk. Note 6.11 also
addresses capital risk management and explains how the Group maintains a strong capital base.

The failure of several financial institutions subsequent to the year end, during 2023, has highlighted the
importance of robust treasury policies which seek to limit any losses that could arise; our palicy dictates that are
banking counterparties are of the highest credit rating. The Group did not have any exposure to the banks which
failed during the first quarter in 2023.
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Section 172(1) statement

This statement describes how the directors have taken account of the matters set out in section 172(1){a) to (f)
of the Companies Act 2006 ("s172"} when performing their duty to promote the success of the Group and
Company for the benefit of its members as a whole, and in doing so having regard (amongst other matters) to:

- the likely consequence of any decision in the long term

- theinterests of the Company's employees

- the need to foster the Company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and cthers

- the impact of the Company's operations on the community and the environment

- the desirability of the Company mzintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct
- the need to act fairly between members of the Group and Company.

Both individually and collectively, the directors believe that they have acted in the way they consider, in good
faith, wauld be most likely to promote the success of the Group and Company for the benefit of its sole member
(whilst having regard to the stakeholders and matters set out in s172) in all decisions taken by the Board during
the period ended 31 December 2022,

Customers

As discussed throughout our report, we have a goal of becoming the world's leading global share registrar and
provider of complementary products and services and to do this engagement with our customers is vital. We aim
to cantinue reaching many millions of customers through the services provided for clients and part of the Group's
strategy is to develog competitive products, as well as transform service experience for all custamers. £EQ has
made it a priority to continue providing an excellent service to all clients.

Key jssues:
- Customer experience
- Understanding client needs
- Reliable and efficient service
- To provide high quality services

Cur response:
- Receiving updates from executive management an the key customer accounts
- Customer Insight Programme - biannual guestionnaire sent to corporate clients
- Considering satisfaction and service performance feedback collected from customer interactions
- Receiving feedback from participation in industry forums and events
- Investing in, modernising and simplifying our range of products
- Putting in place digital transformation plans to improve our customer experience
- Board receives regular management reports relevant to the Group’s client and customer base
- Receiving regular updates and closely monitoring and challenging the handling of customer complaints
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Suppliers
suppliers and has multi-year contracts with key suppliers. The Board is aware that maintaining long-term
relationships is crucial to the sustainability of the business.

Key issues:

Long-term relationships
Fair treatment
Responsible business practices

Qur response:

Promoting the maintenance of long-term relationships, and analysing results from guality management
reviews

Contract negotiation and contract renewals

Supplier relationship management programme (Group wide)

Annual review and renewal by the Board of policies and processes to ensure that we are compliant with
the Modern Slavery Act 2015 and payments policies, practices and performance reporting requirements
The Group caomplies with the Group’s Supplier Code of Conduct to ensure that the business partners
with like-minded suppliers who apply similar high standards of business conduct

Ensuring suppliers comply with the Company’s high standards, such as those relating to environmental
responsibility, modern slavery, human rights, anti-bribery & corruption and ethics

Community and Society
The Group’s approach is to use our position of strength to create positive change for the people and communities

with which we interact. The Board’s aim is to leverage expertise and enable colleagues to support the
communities around them. The {arge majority of the Group’s activities have a direct social benefit.

Key issues:

Responsible business practices and principles
Reputation within the community

Gur response:

The Group continued to support the mitigation of the impact of COVID-19 through a range of measures
implemented to promote mental well-being and employee assistance programmes

Consideration and discussion about the potential impact of decisions on vulnerable customers

The Board fully supports colleague volunteering activities to support social mokility and education
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Regulators
The Group operates in a regulated market and seeks to maintain a positive, transparent and open relationship
with the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA), the Informatian Commissioner’s Office and, in the United States, the

New York State Department of Financial Services (DFS).

Key issues:!

Open and regular dialogue
Transparency
Proactive response to requests and review

Qur response:

Maintaining positive and open relationships with relevant regulators

Regular contact with our assigned FCA supervisors and applicable DFS representatives communicating
the business risks and controls to protect client money and assets and business strategy

Receiving regular reporting from management on the engagement with the Company’s regulator, the
FCA, during the period

Co-operating fully and working closely with the FCA as part of the Supervisory Review and Evaluation
Process

Co-operating fully with the DFS to the extent that the Group receives regulatory requests and in
cannection with any examination

Reporting against the regulatory timetable all required information including guarterly reporting and
annual submissions

Respanding to ad-hoc requests for specific information

Approved by the Baard on 4 May 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

P Lynam — Executive Director
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Group directors’ report for the period ended 31 December 2022

The directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the Group and Company
for the year ended 31 December 2022, the comparatives represent a period of 227 days to 31 December 2021.

Directors of the Company
The directors who held office during the period and up to the date of signing the financial statements were as
follows:

F Baker — Non-executive Director

P Berger — Non-executive Director

J Cooper — Non-executive Director

D Goetz — Non-executive Director (appointed 2 December 2022)

B Griess — Non-executive Director

J Hendren — Non-executive Directer

P Lynam — Executive Director

C Millingtan — Non-executive Director {appointed 5 January 2022)
A Olli — Non-executive Director

1 Swainson — Non-executive Director

N Wright — Non-executive Director

D Yates — Non-executive Director

M Hulslander — Non-executive Director (resigned 26 Qctober 2022)
H Robson I — Non-executive Director {appointed 27 October 2022 and resigned 10 February 2023)
E Wintle — Non-executive Director (resigned 26 August 2022)

Review of the business and future developments
The Company's results, future developments and principal risks and uncertainties are discussed in the Group
Strategic Report on pages 6 to 26.

Dividends
No dividends were declared or paid to shareholders during the year (2021: nil).

Charitable and political donations
No charitable or political donations were paid during the period.

Going concern

The consolidated and company financial staterments are prepared on a going concern basis as the directors are
satisfied that the Group and company has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future (which
has been taken as at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements).

The Group has a large and diverse client base, which includes many of the FTSE 100 and FTSE 250 constituent
companies the UK and a large number of Fortune 500 companies in the US. The Group meets its day-to-day
working capital and financing requirements through the generation of cash flows from its aperating activities and
the availability of long term committed bank facilities.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had £39.3m (2021: £59.0m) of unrestricted cash together with additional
borrowing capacity of $175.0m under its committed bank facilities, which are available to the Group through to
December 2028. The Group's RCF has a single leverage covenant test. This covenant applies when more than 35%
of the RCF is drawn. The Group’s term loans and senior notes do not have any additional covenant tests.
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(continued)

At 31 December 2022, the Graup did not have a drawn down balance on the RCF. Therefore helow the 35%
covenant trigger and latest forecasts suggest compliance will continue with the requirements for the foreseeable
future.

The directors have reviewed the financial forecasts for the Group, prepared by management, which sets out
sufficient trading and cash generation to allow the business to meet its obligations as they fall due. The forecasts
indicate that the Group will continue to recover from the impacts of COVID-19 and related economic stresses
throughout 2023 and assumes:

- Mutual fund proxy work and corporate actions {our major event driven business lines) deliver
comparable business performance to the historic trend.

- Retirement Solutions delivering margin improvement due to the henefits associated with cost savings.

- Credit, Fraud and Analytics and Customer Resalutions delivering modest EBITDA margin impravement
over a 2022 base,

- Achieving a 94% operating cash conversion which is an historical average.

- Maintaining a minimum cash balance (after restricted cash) of £25.0m, balanced via draws on the RCF,

Management perfoarmed a thorough downside review of the Group’s prospects as an integral part of the overall
budgeting process for 2023. This was done with not only the going concern test in mind, but also to ensure the
directors, and management, have as much transparency as possible regarding the petential risks {and
opportunities} posed by the uncertain economic times we find ourselves in, exacerbated by the conflict in Ukraine.

Management devised three scenarios to support this:

- Budget {or base) scenario: this covers the 2023 calendar year and is the result of a detailed bottom-up
process and a significant number of business reviews (given the new ownership structure and new
CEQ/CFO partnership). We have also extrapolated this into 2024 to provide a baseline for the gaing
concern assessment.

- Downside scenario: this covers our view of a slowdown in the economy, largely a mix of legacy COVID-
19 impacts and the uncertainty posed by the Ukraine conflict. In this severe but plausible scenario
management are not forecasting any breach in covenants.

- Reverse Stress Test: we looked specifically at what quantum of EBITDA and net debt movements would
be required to breach our hanking covenants and then considered mitigant available to management.

In all of these scenarios, our primary reference point for the going concern test was the Group’s ability to remain
within its banking covenants, thus retaining access to funding and liquidity and therefore meet its liabilities as
they fall due. We also have separately considered the Group's ability to maintain the regulatory capital and
liquidity requirements that allow us to conduct our business as well as the impact of any external debt agency
reviews. We have not farecast any breaches.

Our stress test and downside scenario modelling has considered severe but plausible scenarios and mitigating
actians are not needed in order to comply with covenants and so there are no breaches identified. As a final point
of reference, we have concluded that a worst-case scenario {considered to be implausible) could be mitigated
such that no breaches arise. We ran all three scenarios, on a monthly basis, to the end of 2024, extrapclating
beyond ocur 2023 budget horizon with no concerns noted.

Therefore the going concern assumpticn is appropriate.

Employee invalvement
How the Group engages with its employees is discussed in the Group Strategic Report an page 9.

Employment of disabled persons
Employment of disabled persons is discussed in the Group Strategic Report on page 10.
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(continued)

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR)
Carbon reporting and the impact on the environment is included in the ESG reporting section of the strategic
report on page 12.

Engagement with suppliers, customers and other relationships
Suppliers, customers and other stakeholders are discussed in the Section 172(1) statement included in the

strategic report on page 24.

Financial Risk Management

The Company has established a global risk management framework to identify, assess and manage the relevant
financial risks affecting the Company’s operating activities and capital structure. The principal risks are liquidity,
FX, interest rate and credit risk (further details are provided in note 6.10). The Company's Audit and Risk
Committee {*ARC’} reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the
Group and oversees how management monitors compliance against its policies and procedures. The ARC is
assisted in their oversight role by the Group's internal audit function which undertakes both regular and ad hoc
reviews of risk management controls and procedures.

Directors’ liabilities

The directors have the benefit of an indemnity which is a qualifying third-party indemnity provision as defined by
section 234 of the Companies Act 2006. Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance has been purchased by the
Group. The insurance does not provide cover in the event that a director is proved to have acted fraudulently.
Indemnity insurance is maintained for the Group's directors and officers against liability in respect of proceedings
brought by third parties, subject to the terms and conditions of the Companies Act 2006.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities
The directors are respeonsible for preparing the Annual Report and Financial Statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the United Kingdom and
applicable law).

Under company law, the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that
period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

- state whether applicable International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the United Kingdom,
have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements;

- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that
the Company will continue in business.

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detecticn of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting recerds that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.
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(continued)

Directors’ confirmations

in the case of each director in office at the date the directors’ report is approved:

- sofar as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors

are unaware; and

- they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that

information,

Carporate governance statement
The Board is committed to upholding high standards of corporate governance and complies with the Wates
Corporate Governance Principles. A summary of the six Wates Principles is set out in the table below:

Principle

Summary

Purpose and
leadership

The Board is responsible for the business strategy and performance for the
group, with a clear goal to become the world’s leading global share registrar and
provider of complementary products and services. Further details an strategy
can be found in the Strategic update an page 6. During 2022 EQ relaunched its
values by engaging with its colleagues via the Global Colleague Farum, an elected
graup of colleagues representing all regions and business areas of the Group.

The Board understands the importance of maintaining a healthy culture is critical
to the groups competitive advantage and is vital to the creation and protection
of long-term value. Ta ensure that the right culture is embedded throughout the
organisation, colleagues undergo regular training and complete employee
surveys, together with feedback sessions with the Global Colleague Forum. A
People Strategy was developed in 2021 to help foster a stronger culture and to
amplify the emplayee voice at EQ, more details are included an page 9.

Board
compaosition

The Beard consists of 11 Non-Executive Directors with the CEQ being the anly
Executive Directar, The Board has a2 wide combination of skills, experience, and
knowledge and the Non-Executive Directors help provide constructive challenge
and influence. The roles of the Chair and CEQ are separate to ensure their
responsibilities clearly divided.

Director
responsibilities

The Orbit Board has a separate Chair and CEQ to ensure balance of
rasponsibilities, accountabilities and decision making is maintained.

The Board receives regular reports on the group, financial performance,
colleague engagement, stakeholders, key business risks and updates from the
activities of its sub-committees. The Board reviews the committee’s terms of
reference at least annually. During 2022 the Board received training on the
updates relating to their statutory and fiduciary duties.

Opportunity and
risk

Strategic opportunities are presented to the Board for discussion and approval.
The Board has overall responsibility for managing risks and ensuring effective risk
management process is in place. The Audit & Risk Committee regularly reviews
principal risks, mitigations and overall risk appetite. The principal risks for EQ are
highlighted on page 18.
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Principle

Summary

Remuneration

The Human Capital Committee is responsible for overseeing the group’s
compensation policies, remuneration strategy and plans, and to provide
strategic direction and oversight with respect to performance management,
talent development and succession, talent acquisition, employee engagement,
and diversity, equity and inclusion initiatives and programs. The Committee is
responsible for advising the Board regarding diversity, equity and inclusion
matters in an effort to promate, foster and nurture a diverse, equitable and
inciusive workfarce and culture. More details are included con page 10.

The Committee takes advice from independent external consultants on
legislative requirements, market best practice and remuneration benchmarking.

Stakeholder
relationships and
engagement

The Board understands the importance of stakeholder relationships. The 5.172
statement on page 24 highlights who the Group's key stakeholders are and how
those stakeholders were engaged with.

To engage meaningful two-way dialogue with the workforce, the Group
Employee Forum meets with board representation to help provide feedback and
cancerns directly to the Board. In addition, regular internal communications are
shared with colleagues with updates on the Group, and Divisicnal heads and the
CEO hold frequent webinars and Q&A sessions with all colleagues.

Approved by the Board on 4 May 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

P Lynam - Executive Director
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Orbit Private

Holdings | Ltd
Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion:

¢ Orbit Private Holdings | Ltd’s group financial statements and company financial statements (the “financial
statements”) give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the company’s affairs as at
31 December 2022 and of the group’s loss and the group’s cash flows for the year then ended;

e the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006;

+ the company financial statements have been properly prepared in accerdance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice {United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 “"Reduced Disclosure
Framework”, and applicable law); and

¢ thefinancial statements have been prepared in accardance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Financial Statements (the
“Annual Report”}, which comprise: the consolidated and company statements of financial position as at
31 December 2022; the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated and company statements of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which inciude a description of the significant
accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing {UK) {“ISAs (UK)"} and applicable
law. Qur responsibifities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
approgriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant ta our
audit of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's and the company’s ability to
continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are
authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have cancluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conciusion is not a guarantee as to
the group's and the company's ahility to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the
refevant sections of this report.
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Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Repart other than the financial statements
and our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the
financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion
or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any farm of assurance therean.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, cur respansibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materiaily inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent
material incansistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether
there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nathing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Group directors' report, we also considered whether the disclosures
required by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report
certain opinions and matters as described below.

Strategic report and Group directors’ report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the informatian given in the Strategic
report and Group directors' report for the year ended 31 December 2022 is caonsistent with the financial
statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Group directors'
report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the statement of directors' responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framewoark and for being satisfied that
they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group ar the company aor to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to abtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
fram material misstatement, whether due to fraud or errar, and to issue an auditors’ repart that includes qur
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with faws and regulations. We design procedures
in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities,
including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is
detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance
with laws and regulations related to it's transfer agent activities {which are regulated by the New York State
Department of Financial Services (DFS)} and its UK investment business activities (which are regulated by the
Financial Canduct Authority (FCA)) and hreaches of data protectian regulations, and we considered the extent to
which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We ako considered those laws
and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial statements such as Companies Act 2006 and corporate
taxation regulations. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of
the financial statements (including the risk of override of cantrols), and determined that the principal risks were
related to posting inappropriate journal entries to overstate reported revenue and the application of
management bias in accounting estimates. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

& Enquiries of the Directars, management, staff in tax and compliance functions, internal audit and the Group’s
legal counsel to identify any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations, including consideration
of known or suspected instances of fraud;

Evaluation of management's cantrols designed to prevent and detect irregularities;

Testing selected journal entries using specific risk criteria, and evaluating the business rationale of significant
transactions gutside the narmal course of business. In particular we tested any journal entries posted with
unusual account combinations or unusual wards;

e Challenging and testing assumptions and judgements made by management in respect of significant
accounting estimates to assess for evidence of management bias, and obtaining appropriate audit evidence;

e Reviewing breach and complaint logs and reading key carrespondence with regulatory autharities, including
the FCA;

« Obtaining and understanding the results of whistleblowing procedures and any related investigations;

* Reviewing minutes of meetings of those charged with governance; and

e Reviewing financial statement disclosures and testing thase to supporting documentation to assess
campliance with applicable laws and regulations.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of
instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions
reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher
than the risk of not detecting ane resulting from errer, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for
example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through coliusion.

A further description of our responsihilities for the audit of the financial statements is [ocated on the FRC's website
at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving
these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpase or to any ather person to whom this report
is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
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Other required repaorting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Campanies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

+ we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for aur audit; or
adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate far our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

e certain disclosures of directars’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

e the company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.
Darren Meek (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

London
4 May 2023
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Year ended 227 day period
2022 ended 2021

Note £m £m
Revenue 31 630.6 32.7
Employee benefit expense 3.3 (329.7) {15.3}
Direct costs (63.1) (3.5}
IT licences and maintenance (54.9} {3.1)
Legal and professional fees (34.5) (51.7)
Net loss on business disposals 4.2 (20.6)
Other expenses 3.2 {42.5} {2.4}
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amaortisation 85.3 (43.3)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4.3 (8.0} {0.6)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 4.4 (8.2} {0.5)
Impairment of Intangible assets 4.5 {206.3) -
Amertisation of software 4.5 (63.3) {5.0)
Amortisation of acquisition related intangible assets 4.5 {35.2} {2.8)
Operating loss (235.7} {52.2)
Finance income 6.1 01 9.4
Finance costs 6.1 {136.8) {5.9)
Loss before income tax (372.4) {48.7)
Income tax credit / {charge} 81 25.6 {1.3}
Loss for the year/period (346.8) {50.0)
{Lass)/profit for the year attributable to:
- Owners of the parent (348.1) (50.1}
- Non-controlling interest 1.3 0.1
Loss for the year/period (346.8) {50.0)

The notes on pages 42 - 89 form part of these financial statements.
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Year 227 day period
ended 2022 ended 2021
Note £m £m
Loss for the year/period (346.8) [50.0)
Other comprehensive income
Itemns that may subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss
Fair value movement through hedging reserve 6.3 {43.2) Q3
Tax on movement in hedging reserve 8.2 4.5 -
Deferred tax on movement in hedging reserve 8.2 5.2 -
Net exchange gains on translation of foreign operations 6.3 10.5 2.2
(23.0) 25
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Defined benefit pensicn plan actuanal gains 93 86 -
Deferred tax on actuarial gains 8.2 (2.0 -
6.6 -
Other comprehensive [expense)/income for the year/period {16.4) 2.5
Total comprehensive expense for the year/period (363.2} {47.5}
Total comprehensive (expense)/fincome attributable to:
- Owners of the parent {364.4) [(47.6)
- Nan-controlling interests 1.2 0.1
Total comprehensive expense for the year/period (363.2) (47.5)

The notes on pages 42 - 89 form part of these financial statements.
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Restated
2022 2021
Note £m £m
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 4.3 214 25.0
Right-of-use assets 4.4 283 29.6
Gaodwilt 4.5 591.0 737.0
Intangible assets 4.5 710.9 802.1
Contract fulfilment assets 5.2 4.0 18.3
Other financial assets 9.1 - 0.7
1,355.6 1,612.7
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 5.1 82.3 71.7
Contract fulfilment assets 5.2 529 40.2
Agency broker receivables 7.4 7.2
Income tax receivable 81 1.9 1.3
Other financial assets 9.1 0.8 0.4
Cash and cash equivalents 6.9 67.1 86.5
2124 207.3
Total assets 1,568.0 1,820.0
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
External loans and borrowings 6.6 a77.5 879.2
Post-employment benefits 9.3 18.1 273
Provisions 55 12.0 7.4
Lease liahilities 6.7 27.5 289
Other financial liabilities 9.2 37.8 0.1
Deferred income tax liabilities 8.2 120.9 1426
1,194.2 1,085.5
Current liabilities
External loans and borrowings 6.6 5.2 4.7
Trade and other payables 5.3 98.0 57.0
Contract fulfilment liabilities 5.4 27.1 25.4
Agency broker payables 7.4 7.2
Income tax payable 8.1 1.8 -
Provisions 5.5 5.9 12.2
Lease liabilities 6.7 6.7 9.6
Other financial liahilities 9.2 5.2 0.1
157.3 156.1
Total liabilities 1,351.5 1,241.7
Net assets 216.5 578.3
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Restated
2022 2021
Note £m £m
Equity

Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital 6.2 621.4 621.4
Hedging reserve 6.3 (32.6} 09
Transiation reserve 5.3 13.0 2.2
Other reserve - -
Accumulated losses {389.1) {50.1)
212.7 574.4
Non-controlling interest 6.5 38 39
Total equity 216.5 578.3

The notes on pages 42 - 89 form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 36 - 41 were approved by the Board of Directors on 4 May 2023 and were signed on its behalf by:

P Lynam - Executive Director
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Share Hedging Translation Accumulated Non-controlling Total
capital reserve reserve losses interest equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Balance at 19 May 2021 - - - - - -
Comprehensive income/{expense)
{Loss}/profit for the period per the incame i . (50.1) 01 (0.0}
statement
Other comprehensive income
Changes in fair vaiue through hedging reserve ) 03 . 03
(note 6.3)
Net exchange gain on translation of foreign ) ) 23 . ) 22
operations (note 6.3) )
Total other comprehansive income - 0.3 2.2 - - 2.5
Total comprehensive incomef{expense) - 0.3 2.2 {50.1) 0.1 {47.5)
Acquisition of businesses - 0.6 - - 5.0 5.6
Issue of share capital, net of transaction costs 6214 } ) B 6214
{note 6.2)
Transactions with non-contralling interests } . (1.2) (1.2)
{noie 6.5)
Trarlmactions with owners recognised directly in 6714 a6 ~ ) P 6258
equity
Balance at 31 December 2021 621.4 0.9 2.2 {50.1) 3.9 578.3
Share Hedging Translation Accumulated  Non-controlling Total
capital reserve resarve iosses interest equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Balance at 1 January 2022 621.4 0.9 2.2 {50.1) 3.9 578.3
Camprehensive income/f{expense)
{Loss)/profit for the year per the income statement - - (348.1) 1.3 {346.8)
Other comprehensive (expensel/income
Changes in fair value through hedging reserve } 143.2) R . : {43.2)
{note 6.3)
Tax an movement through hedging reserve B 45 B . - 45
{note 8.2)
Deferred tax on movement through hedging . 52 B ) ) 53
reserve {note 8.2} '
Net axchange gain/(loss) on translation of ) ) 10.8 } (0.3) 105
foreign operations [note 6.3)
Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension plans } ) } 53 0.3 26
{note 9.3)
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension plans ) ; A {1.9) 0.1) (2.0)
{Note 8.2]
Total other camprehensive experise (33.5) 10.8 6.4 {0.1) {16.4)
Total comprehensive income/{expense) - (33.5) 10.8 {341.7) 1.2 (363.2)
share based payments [note 7.2} - - - 1.4 - 1.4
Transactions with non-contralling interests ) } 13 11.3) }
{note §.5)
Tra:.nsactions with owners recognised directly in ) ) } 27 (1.3} 14
eqguity
Balance at 31 December 2022 621.4 {32.6) 13.0 [289.1) 3.8 216.5

The nates on pages 42 - 89 form part of these financial statements.
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Year ended 227 day period
2022 ended 2021

Note £m £m
Loss before income tax (372.4) (48.7)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment 8.0 0.6
Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets 8.2 0.5
impairment of Intangible assets 206.3 -
Amortisation of software 63.3 5.0
Amartisation of acquisition-related intangibles 35.2 28
Finance income {0.1) (9.4)
Finance costs 1368 5.9
Net loss on business dispasals 20.6 -
Share based payments 1.4 -
Changes in working capital:
Net decrease/{increase)} in receivables 0.9 (6.1)
Net increase in contract assets (3.0) (4.3)
Net decrease in payables {15.9) {28.4)
Net increase/{decrease) in contract liabilities 1.1 (4.6)
Net decrease in provisions 3.2 (0.9)
Cash flows from aperating activities 93.6 {87.6)
Interest paid (72.0) (5.3)
Income tax paid {1.1) -
Net cash inflow/{outflow) from operating activities 20.5 (92.9)
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 6.1 0.1 -
Business acquisitions net of cash acquired 4.1 - (571.3)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment {6.5) {0.8)
Payments relating to developing and acquiring software (32.7) (1.2)
Disposal of businesses, net of cash disposed 10.6 -
Net cash outflow from investing activities (28.5) {573.3)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of share capital - 621.4
(Repayment of)/praceeds from term loans and senior notes 6.6 (5.2) 942.1
Repayment of previous EQ and AST bank locans 6.6 - (716.0)
Drawdown of revolving credit facility 6.6 59.7 -
Repayment of revolving credit facility 6.6 [(59.7) {50.0)
Payment of loan set up fees 6.6 - (47.8)
Payments in respect of leases 6.8 (8.9 (1.6)
Transactions with non-controlling interests {1.3) -
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities {15.4) 748.1
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash eguivalents (23.4) 819
Net foreign exchange gains 4.0 456
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 86.5 -
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 67.1 86.5

The notes on pages 42 - 89 form part of these financial statements,
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2.1

GENERAL INFORMATION

Qrbit Private Holdings | Ltd {the Company] 1s a private [imited company, limited by shares, and is incorporated and domiciled 1n England, United
Kingdom. The Company and its subsidiaries [collectively, "EQ" or "the Group"} provide shareholder, pensien, remediation, and credit technology
solutions. The registered office address is Highdown House, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN939 3HH. The Group financial statements
consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Company was incorporated on 19 May 2021 and hence the 2021 comparative figures are shown for the 227 day period since incorporation.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consalidated financral staterents are set out befow, These policies have been
consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated in note 2.2.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted International Accounting Standards and with the requirements of
the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companies reporting under those standards. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the going concern basis and under the historical cost convention, as medified by the revaluation of financial assets and financial liabilities
fincluding derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or loss. The Group's functional and presentational currency 15 the British Pound {£).

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities {including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group 1s
exposed 1o, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated frorm the date an which control is transferred ta the Group. They are deconsohdated from the date
that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acguisition 1s measured as
the fair value of the assets given, equity iInstruments issued and habilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilites and contingent Lalnlittes assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controling interest in the acquiree as the proportionate share in the acquiree’s recognised net assets. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

As shown In note 4.1 the acguisition of Eguiniti and AST tock place on 9 December 2021 and therefore the consclidated results of the group only
include trading since 9 December 2021. This means that the comparative 227 day period ending 31 December 2021 only contains consohidated
trading for the 22 days since the acquisition.

Measurement Period Adjustment

The Group has restated prior period balances due to the fair values of assets and liahilities recognised on acquisition in 2021 being determined
only provisionally. During the measurement period, the value has been determined by an independent third party and so adjustments to the
provisional amounts are recognised by revising comparative information for the prior period presented in this years financial statemeants as if the
accounting for the business combination had been completed at the acquisition date, Restatements are shown in the statement of financial
pasition, note 4.1 and note 4.5.

Going concern

The consclidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis as the Directors are satisfied that the Group has the resources to
continue in business for the fareseeable future [which has been taken as at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements).

The Group has a iarge and diverse client base, which includes many of the FTSE 100 and FTSE 250 constituent companies in the UK and a large
number of Fortune 500 companies in the US. The Group meets its day to day working capital and financing requirements through the generation
of cash flows from its operating activities and the availability of long term committed bank facilities.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had £39.2m {2021: £59.0m) of unrestricted cash together with additional borrowing capacity of $175.0m under
its committed bank facilities, which are available to the Group through to December 2028, The Group's Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) has a single
leverage covenant test. This covenant applies when more than 35% of the RCF 1s drawn. The Group’s Term Loans and Senior Notes do not have
any additional covenant tests.

The Group does not have an RCF balance drawn down at year end and 15 therefare below the 35% covenant trigger and latest forecasts suggest
compliance will continue with the reguirements for the fareseeable future.
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2.1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES ([CONTINUED)

Going concern (continued)
The Directors have reviewed the financial forecasts for the Group, prepared by management, which set out sufficient trading and cash generation
to zllow the business to meet its ooligations as they fall due. The forecasts indicate that the Group will continue to recover from the impacts of
COVID-18 and related economic stresses throughout 2022 and assume:

® Mutual fund proxy work and corporate actions {our major event driven business lines) deliver comparable business performance to the

historic trend.

& Arnarginimprovement due to the benefts associated with cost savings in the Retirement Solutions drision.

e Credit, Fraud and Analytics; and Custamer Resolutions delivering modest improvement over 2022 1 EBITDA margin.

+ Achieving a 94% operating cash conversion which 1s an histoncal average.,

+ Maintaining a8 minimum balance of cash (after restricted cash) of £25.0m, balanced via draws on the RCF.
Management performed a thorough downside review of the Group's praspects as an integral part of the overall budgeting process for 2022, This
was done with not only the going concern test in mind, but also ta ensure the Directors, and management, have as much transparency as possible
regarding the potential risks {and opportunities) posed by the uncertain ecanormic times we find ourselves in, exacerbated by the conflict in
Ukraine.
Management devised three scenarios 1o suppaort this:

1) Budget {or base) scenario: this covers the 2023 calendar year and is the result of a detatled bottom up process and a significant number of
business reviews {given the new ownership structure and new CEQ/CFO partnership). We have also extrapolated this into 2024 to provide a
baseline for the Going Concern assessment.

2) Downside scenario: this covers our view of a slowdown in the ecancmy, largely a mix of legacy COVID-19 impacts and the uncertainty posed by
the Ukraine conflict. In this severe but plausible scenario management are not farecasting any breach in covenants.

3} Reverse Stress Test: we looked specifically at what quantum of EBITDA and net debt movements would be required to breach our banking
covenants and then considered mitigant available to management.

In all of these scenarios, cur primary reference point for the going concern test was the Group's ability to remain within its banking covenants, thus
retaining access to funding and hiquichty and theretore rmeet its Labilities as they fall due. We also have separately considered the Group's ability to
maintain the regulatory capital and iquidity requirements that allow us to conduct our business as well as the impact of any external debt agency
reviews, We have not forecast any breaches. From our stress test and downside scenario modelling we have considered savere but plausible
scenaros and mitigating actions are not needed in order to comply with covenants and so there are no breaches wentified. As a final pont of
reference we have concluded that a worst case scenario {considered to be implausible) could be mitigated such that no breaches arise. We ran alt
three scenarios, on a monthly basis, to the end of 2024, extrapolating beyond our 2023 budget honzon with no concerns noted. Therefare the

going concern assumption (s apprapriate.

Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwil

Goedwlll anses an the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the consideration transferred. the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest measured at fair value 1s
less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference I1s recognised directly in the
income statement.

For the purpose of Impairment testing. goodwill acquired In a business cormbination 1s allocated to each of the cash generating umits {CGU) that 1s
expected to benefrt frarm the synergies of the cominnation. Each CGU to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level at which the
goadwill 1s menitored for internal management purposes.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annuzlly or more frequently if events or changes In circumstances indicate a potential Impairment,
The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared ta the recoverable amount, which 15 the higher af value in use and the fair value
less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense in the income statement and 1s not subsequently reversed.
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2.1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED})

Goodwill and intangible assets (continued)
intangible assets

Development costs directly attributable to the design, development and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the
Group are recogrised as an intangible asset when the following criteria are met:

it 1s technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;

management intends ta complete the software product and use or sellit;

there 15 an ability to use or sell the software product;

it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future econamic benefts;

adequate technical, financial and other resources 1o complete the development and to use or sell the software product are available; and
« the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.

» 0 & 8 8

These costs include employee benefit expenses allocated according to time spent on each project, along with an appropnate portion ot relevant
overheads, and external consultancy costs.

Other development-related costs that are not directly attributable or do not meet the capitalisation criteria are recogrised as an expense as
incurred, along with costs incurrad in mantaining computer software programmes.

Development costs previgusly recogrised as ah expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent pertod.

Intangible assets also includes assets 1dentified as part of a business combination. They are stated at fair value at the date of acquisition less
subsequent accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Customer relationships are valued based on the net present value of the excess earnings generated by the revenue streams over their estimated
useful ives. Order books are valued based on expected revenue generation. Brand valuation is based on net present value of estimated rovalty
returns.

Amortisation is charged to the Income statement an a straight-line basis aver the estimated usaful lives of the asset, from the date it is available
for use or acquired. A full month s charged in the month the asset begins amortising. The estimated useful ives are as follows:

® Software S years
® Customer relationships 8 -2Q years
¢ Brands 15 years

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. For items acquired as part of a business
combination, cost comprises the deemed fair value of those items on the date of acquisition. Depreciation on those 1tems 15 charged over their
estimated remaining useful lives from that date.

Depreciation is charged to the income statement on 3 straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant
and equipment. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

o Lleasshold improvements 2—30vyears
* Office equipment 2 -10 years
+ Fixtures and fithngs 3 — 10 years

Right-of-use assets

When a contract contains a lease, the Group recognises a nght-of-use asset, and a corresponding lease liability at the lease commencement date.
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at the initial amount of the lease ligbility, including any dilapdation provisions, and adjusted for any
lease paymants made on or before the commencement date, any initial direct costs incurred and any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently depreciated an a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the usefu!
Iife of the nght-of-use asset, determined on the same basis as for property, plant and equipment, or the end of the lease term. The estimated
useful lives are as follows:

& Right-of-use assets 2-101 years
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2.1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {CONTINUED}

impairment of nen-financial assets

Assets that have anindefinite useful ife, for example goodwill; or Intangible assets nat ready for use are not subject to amartisation and are tested
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes 1n crrcumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 13 recogrised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount
exceeds Its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purpases of
assessing impairment, assets are evaluated at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (CGU). Nan-financial assets,
other than goodwill, that have suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible impairment reversals at each reporting date,

Financial instruments
A financial asset ar finanaial liability 1s only recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.
Classification and measurement
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
& Atfair value through profit or loss
& At fasr value through other comprehensre income
* Atamortised cost
The classification depends on the business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows and management
will determine the classification on nitial recognition

At imtial recognitton, the Group measures a financial asset at 1ts fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised within the income statement,

Trade and other receivables {excluding prepayments) and contract fulfiiment assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows, where
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at amortised cast, less expected credit loss. Other inancial
assets include derivatives which are recognised at fair value through profit or loss, unless the derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, in which
case any gain or loss relating to the effectve element of the hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income.

The Group classifies its financial iabilities in the following measurement categories:
e At fair value through profit or loss
®  Atamortsed cost

The Group classifies debt and equity instruments as either financial liabilities or as equity, in accordance with the substance of the cantractual
arrangement. An equity Instrument 15 any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group, after deducting all of its Labilities.
Eguity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Under 1AS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation {185 32), finanaial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity anly to the extent that
they meet the following two conditions:

{a) they include na contractual cbhgations upon the Group to deliver cash or other finanaial assets or to exchange financial assets or financial
habilites with another party, under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Group; and

{b] where the instrument wiill or may be settled in the Group’s own equity instruments, It1s either a nan-dernvative that includes no obligation to
deliver a variable number of the Group's own eguity instruments or 15 a derivative that will be settled by the Graup's exchanging & fixed amount of
cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition 15 not met, the proceeds of i1ssue are classified as a inancial lability. Financial labilities not classified as fair value
through profit or loss, such as derivatives. are classified and measured at amortised cost using the effective iInterest method.

Derecogrtion

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the rights to recerve cash flows from the financial asset expire or have been transferred, and the
Group has transferred substanually all the nisks and rewards of ownership. The Group derecognises a financial hatlity when its contractuat
obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. Any gain or loss ansing on derecogmition is recognised directly in profit ar loss and presented within
administrative costs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTiNUED)

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Derivative financial instruments

The Group's derivatives, which include interest rate swaps and forward currency contracts, are measured at fair value, being the estimated
amount that the Group would receive or pay to terminate the instrument at the reporting date. Third-party valuations are used to fair value the
Group's derivatives. The valuation uses inputs such as interest rate yield curves and currency prices/yields, valatiities of undertying instruments
and correlations between inputs.

The fair value of a hedging dervative 1s classified as a non-current asset or hability to the extent that it will be settled later than 12 months after
the end of the reporting period. At inception of the hedge relationship, the group decuments the economic relationship between hedging
instruments and hedged items, including whether changes in the cash flows of the hedging instruments are expected to offset changes in the cash
flows of hedged items. The group documents its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking its hedge transactions.

Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges 1s recogmised in other
comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the incaome statement.

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the same period the hedged item affects profit or loss {for exarnple, when the
hedged forecast transaction takes place and this 1s typically revenue far interest rate swaps hedging variable interest income on chent balances
under admimistration]. When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any
cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that tme remains in equity until the forecast transaction occurs. When the forecast transaction is no
longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss and deferred costs of hedging that were reported in equity are immedately reclassified to
profit or loss.

Net investment hedges

Gains or losses on a hedging instrument relating to the effective partion of & hedge of a foreign operation are recogrised in other comprehansive
Income. Any ineffective portion is recognised in the income statement within finance costs. Gains or losses accumulated In egquity are reclassified
to the incame statement if the foreign operation is sold.

Trade receivables

Trade recervables represent amounts inveiced to custamers, but not yet paid. They are generally due for settlement within 30 days, and are
therefere all classified as current. Trade receivables are recogmised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional, unless they
contain significant financing components, in which case they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds trade recgivables with the objective of
collecting the cantractual cash flows, and sa it measures thermn subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an
expacted credit loss allowance. Expected credit losses are recognised using the simplified approach as set out in IFRS 8 Financial Instruments (IFRS
9) and consequently loss allowances are measured at an amount equal to the hifetime expected credit loss. The expected credit lass model applies
a percentage, based on an assessment of historical default rates and certain forward looking information, against receivables that are grouped inte
certain age brackets. Where there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect any amounts due according to the onginal terms
of the agreement with the customer, the recelvable is fully impaired and the loss 1s recognised within administrative costs in the income
statement.

Contract fulfilment assets

When services ar software are supplied to a customer befare an invoice 15 1ssued, a contract fulfilment asset is recogrised 1n the statement of
financial position which represents the night to receive consideration from the customer for goods ar services delivered. An asset is only recognised
if the revenue recognition criteria are satisfied, The asset 1s recognised using the transaction price attributed te ndivmdual performance obligations
based on their fair value. The Group's contracts with customers often include a payment schedule which determines when invoices are raised, and
settlament Is received, during the contractual term.

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer are recognised as an asset anly if the Group expects to recover them. Those costs to
obtain a contract are included in the statement of financial position within contract fulfilment assets. These assets are subsequently charged to
admiristrative costs within the income statement over the expected cantract period, using a systematic basis that mirrars the patternin which the
Group transfers control of the services or software to the customer. If it becomes apparent that contractual costs will exceed contractual revenue,
the loss is recognised immediately as an expense in the income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PGLICIES {CONTINUED)
Agency broker balances

Where the Company acts as an agency broker for retail investors, whereby securities are purchased fram one counterparty and simultanecusly
sold to another counterparty, balances owed by or to the retail investor and the market maker are recognised within agency broker receivables
and agency broker payables until the halances are settied. Settlement of such fransactions 1s primarily on a delivered and paid basis and typically
takes place within a few business days of the trade date, according to the relevant market rules and conventions. The amounts due from and
payable to counterparties in respect of unsettled transactions are shown as gross amourits in the statement of financial position.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Electronic payments are included in cash and cash equivalents until the
transaction is noa longer cancellable. Once the Group loses the nght to cancel a payment instruction, 1t derecognises the cash, and the associated
liability.

Certain cash balances are designated as not available for use in the Group's day-to-day operations. These balances are referred to as restricted
cash. The Group's restricted cash balance represents amounts designated as restricted either by management. or by the Group's financial
regulators, to ensure comphance with regulatory requirements. These balances are regularly monitored and are segregated from the cash
balances available for use.

External loans and borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attriburable transaction casts. Subseguent ta Inial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost, with any difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings, using an effective interest basis. When borrowings are extinguished, any difference between the
cash paid and the carrying value 1s recognised in the iIncome statement,

When the madification of borrowings does not lead to derecognitiaon, the revised cash flows under the modified terms are discounted at the date
of the modification at the original effective interest rate. The difference between the carrying amount of the barrowings immediately before the
madification and the sum of the present value of the cash flows of the modified borrowings, discounted at the original effective interest rate, are
recognised in the income statement as a modification gan or loss.

Trade payabies

Trade payables represent liabilities for goods and services received by the Group before the end of the reporting period, which have been invoiced
but are unpaid. They are presented as current habilities unless payment I1s not due within 12 months after the reporting period. The amounts
within trade payables are unsecured. Trade payables are recognised inttially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Contract fulfilment liabilities

Contract fulfilment lrabilities are recorded when the Group has received consideration from customers, but stll has an chhigatan to delver
services ar software to the custormer and meet performance obligations for that consideration. The liability 15 measured as the fair value of the
consideration received. The Group reviews cantract fulfilment habilities at the end of each reporting period to ensure that it is still appropriate to
carry forward the censideration received far recognition as revenue in a future period.

Business Disposals and Assets and liabilities held for sale

Business disposals are businesses that have been exited during the year or are n the process of being dispased of. The definition of “discontinued
operations' as stipulated by IFRS 5 Nan-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations {IFRS 5], requires disclosure and comparatives ta
be restated where the relative size of a disposal or business closure is significant. which 1s normally understood to mean a reported segment.
Accordingly, the separate presentation in note 4.2 does not fall within the requirements of IFRS 5 cancerning discontinued operations.

Assets and habdities {or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale when their carrying amount is ta be recovered principally through a sale
transaction and a sale 1s considered highly probable. On classification as held for sale, they are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair
value less costs to seil. Imparment lasses are included in the incorme statement, as are any gains and 1osses on stbsequent re-measdrement.

Employee benefits
Short-term obhgatians

Liatulities for wages and salanes. including nan-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave, that are expected to be settled within
12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related serwice, are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to
the end of the reporting period. The hability 1s measured at the amounts expected to be pawd when the Lhatilities are settled. The liabulities are
presented as current habilities within trade and other payables in the statement of financial position.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Employee benefits {continued)

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan 1s a pension plan under which the Groug pays fixed contributions to a separately administered fund. The Group has no
further payment obligations once the contributicns have been paid. The cantributions are recognised as employee benefit expense in the income
statement as incurred. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset, to the extent that a cash refund or reduction in future payments is
available.

Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan 1s a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Group's net obligation in respect of defined
benefit pension plans 1s calculated by estimating the amaunt of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current
and prior periods. That benefit 15 discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any plan assets (at bid price) 15 deducted. The
lability discount rate is the vield at the reporting date on AA credit rated bonds denominated in the currency of, and having maturity dates
approximating to. the terms of the Group's abligatians. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

When the calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the asset recognised is limited to the present value of benefits available in the form of any
future refunds from the plan, reductions in future contributions to the plan or on settlement of the plan and takes into account the adverse effect
of any minimum funding requirements.

Actuarial gains and |osses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuanal assumptions are recognised in other comprehensive
income; in the period in which they arise.

Current service costs reflect the increase in the defined benefit obligation resulting from employee services in the current period, benefit
curtailments and settlements. Costs are racognised as an employee benefit expense, within administrative casts in the income statement.

Past-service costs, which anise as a resylt of current changes to plan arrangements affecting the obligation for prior periads, are recogmised
immediately as an employee benefit expense, within administrative costs in the income statement.

The net interest cost is calcutated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of the plan
assets. The net interest cost s included within finance costs in the income statement.

Share based payments

For equity settled schemes, changes in Fair value ate recognised as an axpense, with a corresponding increase in the performance share plan
reserve. Information refating to the 2021 Long term incentive plan {the "Plan"} is set outin note 7.2.

Provisions

A provision 1s recognised 1n the statement of financial position when the Group has & present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, and it 15 probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect 1s material, provisions are
determined by discounting the expected, risk-agjusted, future cash flows at a pre-tax risk-free rate.

Dilapidations provisions relate to the estimated cost to revert leased premises back to a required condition expected under the terms of the iease.
These include prowsions for wear and tear, along with provisians for leasehold improvements made that would reguire reinstatement to the
original status on exit. Provisions for wear and tear are recognised as an expense within the income statement and are recogrised as the liabihity s
Incurred. Estimated costs relating to the removal of leasehold improvements are capitalised as part of the cost of leasehcld improvements and are
amortised over the shorter of the term of the lease and the useful life of the assets. Payments Tor dilepidations are uncertain in timing, as leases
may be terminated early or extended. To the extent that exits of prermises are expected within 12 months of the reporting period, the prowision 15
shown as current.

Other provisions includes amounts recognised for legal obligations and onerous lease costs, excluding amounts recognised as lease liabilities, that
the Group expects will be incurred on properties that have been vacated, over the remaining term of the lease. These amounts will be released to
the income statement as the expenses are incurred.

Cantingent cansideration 1s provided for on the acquisition of a business, where the monetary amount s dependent on the future performance of
the acquired business. A provision 1s Initially recognised as the discounted expected amount payable and 1s unwound over the peried to the legal
date of settlernent. The amaount pavable is reviewed regularly. The subsequent fair value 1s determined by reviewing the post-acquisition
performance of the acquired company. along with available budgets and forecasts, aganst the earn-out arrangement in the share purchase
agreement, to determine the most likely outcome.

Changes to the far value of the contingent consideration, resulting from acditional information obtained post-acguisition about facts and

circumstances that ewsted at the acquisition date, are recognised as an adjustment against goodwil during the first 12 months following the
acquisition. Any other changes are recognised in the income statement.
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2.1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {(CONTINUED}

Share capital
Qrdinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deducticen, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Foreign currency translation

Fareign currency transactions are translated inte the functional currency for that entity using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting frorm the settlement of such transactions, and from the translation of monetary assets
and habilitres denominated in foreign currencies using exchange rates at the end of the reporting periad, are recognised in the income staterment
as finance income / costs,

The results and financial posiion of all Group entities having a different functional currency from the Group's presentational currency are
translated into the Group's presentational currency as fallows:

e assets and liabilines are translated at the closing rate on the date of the statement of financial posinon;

& ncome and expenditure included in the income statement 1s translated at average exchange rates; and

s all resulting exchange differences are recogrised in other caomprehensive income and recorded within the transiation reserve.
Goodwill and farr value adjustments arising on the acguisitton of a fareign entity are treated as assets and habilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing exchange rate. Exchange differences arising from retranslatian at the ¢losing rate are recognised in other comprehensive
Incame within the translation reserve.

Revenue

Revenue, which excludes sales taxes, represents the value of services provided and software supplied to customers In the UK, Europe and the US,
and also includes interest received on funds under administration of the Group.

Revenue classified as rendering of gnods and services represents amaunts due to the Group as compensation for services performed or goods
delivered under contract. Revenue included within rendering of goods and services in note 3.1 is revenue generated from the professional services
which the Group offers to 1ts customers. It does not include any additional revenue generated from client funds under adrministration, which are
disclased separately as interest income,

The arrangements used to pay for goods and services rendered can vary between clients. Many contracts are structured so that any fees are
invoiced to the client either before during or after performing the contractual obligations. Some contracts are structured to allow the Group to
retain any interast income raceved from processing the client's funds, instead of an invoiced fee, Such interest Incame 15 specifically mentioned as
the fee for performing contractual tasks and ohligatians. Given that 1t 15 not madental to the underlying goods and services delivered, such
revenue received Is classified as revenue generated from the rendering of goods and serwices.

The Group distinguishes between revenue generated from the rendering of goods and services and revenue representing interest received on
client monies held and administered by the Group This income 1s considered to be ancillary to the underhying fee paid services delivered to the
Group's customers. Interest income Is an impartant source of the Group's revenue and the Group seeks ta maximise these returns by halding funds
In high-interest-bearing accounts, where possible.

Out of pocket expenses recharged to custorners are recognised in revenue, net of the refated expense. when they are recoverabile from the chent.
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SUMBMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue 15 recognised when, or as, the Group satisfies contractual perfarmance obligations by transferring promised goods or serwces to its
customers. Goods and services are considered to be transferred when the customer obtains contral of the good or service.

Revenue 1s recognised either at a point in time, when the performance obligation i the contract has been performed, or over time, as contral of
the performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

The Group's principal revenue recognition palicies are as follows:

Professional services

The Group 1s a large provider of outsaurced professional services in the UK and US, covering pensians administration, pensions payroll, annuity
services, complaints handling, resourcing services, employee share plan adrministration, share registration services and transfer agency services,

Revenue from fixed-price cantracts, which may span a number of years, is recognised rateably over the expected life of the contract, where the
Group satisfies the over time revenue recognition eriteria. When the over time criteria are not satisfied, the Group recognises revenue ata point in
time when the contractual performance obligations are delivered, Where the Group provides staff to custorners at hourly or daily rates, revenue 1s
recognised on the basis of ime worked

Many of the Group's contracts contain multiple deliverables to the customer. Far example, contracts for the prowisian of outsourced pension
administration services will often include provisions for the delivery of special projects and pension accountancy services. Management evaluates
whether those promised services are distinct, which requires them ta be accounted for as separate performance obligations. If the services are not
distinct, they are combined with other services until a distinct performance obligation can be identified in the contract. If a series of services are
substantially the same and have the same pattern of transfer to the customer, the deliverables may be combined and accounted for as a single
performance obligation.

Software sales, hosting and support services

Software salas, hosting and support services are provided for the Group's software platforms such as Compendia, Charter and K¥Cnet. Revenue for
sales of software licences are recognised at the point in time when the key terms are agreed; when the licences are delwvered to the customer;
where this results in the customer having the right to use the licence: and the performance obligation has been delivered in fuil. Revenue for
hosting and support services 1s recognised rateably over the term of the agreement.

When products are bundled tegether for the purpose of sale, the associated revenue, net of all applicable discounts, 1s allocated between the
constituent performance obligations based on relative standalone selling prices. The Group has a systematic basis for allocating relative fair values
in these situations, which is based on internal price lists and historic and current selling prices.

Transactional revenue

Transactional revenue. represents commissions and fees earned on the purchase and sale of shares and on foreign exchange transactions.
Revenue Is recognised at a paint in time when the performance or processing of the related transactions takes place.

{nterest income
Interest income within revenue relates 1o interest earned on funds under administration of the Group. Revenue 15 recognised at the point in time
the interest 1s earned.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued}

Where delivery of the services described above spans more than one accounting period, revenue is either recognised over time or at a point in
time. Where the over time criteria |n I[FRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (IFRS 15] are satisfied, the Group recognises revenue using
the ‘percentage of completion' method. This may occur within the Shareholder services businesses for the supply of corporate actions related
services and within the Credit services business for software hosting and support services, When the service falls into two or more accounting
periods, judgement 1s applied in determining how much revenue to recognise 1In each period. Where prowvided for under the terms of the contract,
the stage of completion Is measured by reference to the contract costs incurred up to the end of the reporting periad, as a percentage of the total
estimated cost for the contract. Total costs incurred under contracts in progress, net of amaunts transferred to the incame statement, are stated
less foreseeable losses and payments on account. Where the over time criteria are not satisfied, revenue 1s recognised when all the performance
obligations have been delivered to the customer, which may not be until the end of the contractual period.

In determiming how much revenue to recogrise, management is required to assess the expected ¢osts to complete the contract. Forecasting
contract costs involves judgements around the number of hours to complete a task, cost savings to be achieved over time, anticipated profitability
of the contract, as well as contract-specific KPIs. Where a contract is anticipated ta make a loss, these judgements are also relevant in determining
whether or not an onerous contract provision is required and how this s to be measured.

Contract revenue 1s measured as the fair value of the consideration receivable. Where consideration 1s variable, it 1s anly recognised to the extent
that it is highly probable that it will not reverse in a future period. Any changes to the transaction price (excluding those resulting from contract
modifications) are aliocated to the performance obligations in the contract on the same basis as at the inception of the contract. A contract
modification 15 anly recognised when the modification is approved. An increase in scope of a contract could increase both the total anticipsted
revenue and costs to complete the contract.

Costs to date and costs to complete are continually monitored for each project through a monthly review process. If it becomes apparent that
contract costs will exceed contract revenue, then the loss is recogmsed immediately as an expense in the income statement.

The following table illustrates revenue recognition policies predominantly used in each of the Group's businesses:

Segment Profes_sional Out of pocket 5 eand Tr b l'nterest
services EXpENSE: support fees income

UK 3nsrencrgar Ser 123 - - - [ ]

W5 Sha sntndsr Bxricas L - - .

Retezmraat Seut.ons - L] .

Custorrer Rasc at ons - [ ]

Creat, Fraed & ANyt s - -

CtharDgta - -

Casts ansing prior to the Group being awarded a cantract, or achieving preferred bidder status, and mobilisation costs are expensed to the income
statement as incurred.

Once the Group is awarded a contract, the incremental costs of obtaiming or fulfilling the contract are recognised as an asset only If the Group
expects ta recover them. These assets are subsequently charged to the income statement over the expected contract period using a systematic
basis that mirrors the pattern in which the Group recognises the contracted revenua.

Revenue earned and recogrised for services not vet billed, is reflected in the statement of financial position within contract fulfilment assets. There
can be a significant period of time between revenue recognition and invaicing, where revenue 1s recognised at a pomnt in time but the agreed
payment schedule means that invoices are raised over time. This 15 evident when the Graup delivers term licences, and where the perfarmance
obligation is fulfilled on delivery of the licence but billing occurs throughout the contract term. Revenue 15 only recognised when supported by a
written client contract and recoverability is expected in line with the supporting contract, Contract fulfiiment assets are derecognised as invoices
are raised 1n accordance with set milestones. Amounts billed in advance of the related services or goods being provided to the customer, and
associated revenue being earned, are deferred in the statement of financial position as contract fulfilment labilities and then income 15 recogrised
as the performance ohligations are met.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {CONTINUED)

Governmeant grants

Gavernment grants primarily relate to research and development expenditure credits, which provide income tax relisf on the Group’s research and
development costs. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recogrised in the income staternent in the same periods in which
the expenses are recognised. Grants relating to capital expenditure are deferred and included within other payables in the statement of financial
position and released to the Income statement on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the related assets. Grants are recognised when the
Group has assurance that it will comply with the conditions attached to the grant and it is confident that the funds will be received.

Leases

At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract 1S, or cantains, a lease. A confract 13, oF ¢contains, a lease If the contract
provides the right to use an asset for 3 period in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract convays the right to control the use of
an identified asset, the Group assesses whether the contract involves the use of an identified asset, which may he speafied explicitly or implicitly.
The Group also assesses whether the contract provides the right to obtain, substantially, all of the economic benefits from use of the asset
throughout the period of use. The Group must also determine whether the cantract permits the right to direct the use of the asset, which flows
from the ability to decide how and far what purpose the asset 15 used.

When a contract contains a lease, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The lease
liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. Non-lease expenses, such a5 service charges, are expensed 1n the income statement as they are incurred. When the
Interest rate implicit in the [ease cannot be readily determined, the [essee’s incrermental borrowing rate 15 used as the discount rate. Extension and
termination options included within lease contracts are generally disregarded at the lease commencement date, as the Group is not reasonably
certain of exercising them.

The lease hability 15 measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The liability is remeasured when a change in the future lease
payments is recognised. A corresponding adjustment 15 also made to the carrying amaunt of the right-of-use asset, or If the right-of-use asset has
been reduced to zerg, recarded in the income statement.

Short-term leases and leases of fow-value assets

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease labilities for shart-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and
leases of law-value assets, including IT equipment. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Finance income and finance costs

Finance income and finance costs camprises the effective interast expense on external debt facilities, interest income on own funds, foreign
exchange gains and losses, the interest expense on lease lizhilties, the gains and losses relating to the termination of derivative financial
instruments and the interest cost of defined pension scheme liabilities, net of the expected return on plan assets.

Interest income and interest payable is recognised in the income statement, using the effective interest methoed.
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2.2

2.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation

Tax on the profit for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax 1s recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised directly in equity, In which case it 1s recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable incorme for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of
financial position date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is prowided on temporary differences batween the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used far taxation purpases. The following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill, the intial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than I a business combination, and differences relating to
investments 1N subsidiaries, to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided 15
basad on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and hiahilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the statement of financial position date.

A deferred tax asset Is recognised only to the extent that it 1s probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be
utilised.

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED

There are no new IFRSs or IFRS IC interpretations not vet adopted which would be expected to have a material impact on the consclidated financial
statements of the Group.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The Group makes estimates and judgements concerning the future, the results of which may affect the carrying values of assets and habilities at
the penad end, as well as the revenue and costs reparted for the perind. Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on
histarical experience and other factors, including the expected future impact of conditions such as COVID-19 and climate change, that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The accounting estimates that have a significant risk of eausing a material adjustment to the carrying values of assets and hiabilities within the next
financial year are described below.

Accounting estimates
Carrying Value of intangible assets

in accordance with IFRS 3, last year management needed to determine the fair value of net assets acquired as part of the business combination.
This included assets, such as customer-related intangibles, that were not recognised in the bocks of the acquired business, Therefore management
needed to calculate the fair value of intangible assets arising on acquisition, This was based on twe key assumptions; the discount rate and the long
term growth rate.

At the 2022 year end management have carred out an impairment review of the intangible assets to determine the carrying value and to
determine whether an impairment 15 required The key assumptions used in carrying out this review were in line with those used at the initial
valuation: the gssurmed discount rates, the long-term growth rates and the vear five EBITDA, which is considered to be closely aligned to cash flow.

The discount rate has been calculated using the capital asset pricing model, informed by comparable market-observed data points (such as the
beta and risk-free rate) where available. The long-term growth rate 1s based on GDP predictiens, which have been uplifted in the US for the specific
market apportunities. Assumptions made within the EBITDA forecasts include a proportion of central costs allocated to each dwision based on
prapartion of Gverall group ERITDA and that assets will be replaced as they become fully depreciated/amartised.

The key assumptions within the Group's finangial farecasts are set out on page 28 and with further detail by CGU in note 4.5.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Accounting estimates (continued)
Pension assumptions

The present value of the net defined benefit pension obligation is dependent on a number of factars that are determined on an actuarial basis,
using a number of assumptions. These assumptions, which are set out In note 9.3, include salary rate increases, 1nterest rates, inflation rates,
discount rates and mortality rates. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying value of the pension obligation and a sensitivity
analysis has been disclosed in note 9.3.

The discount rate used fer calculating the present value of future pension hability cash flows 15 based an interest rates of high-quality corporate
bonds that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation.

Judgements in applying the Grougp's accounting policies

Saftware develapment

The Group capitalises certain staff costs as part of a software asset, where, in management's judgement, the costs are incremental and directly
attributable to an asset, and it can be determined that the Group has the ability to develop the asset and the project I1s technically feasible,
Spectfically assumptions are made regarding the apportionment of time of staff who do pot use timesheets and the allocation of central costs.
Management also exercises judgement to determine whether the project will be completed and whether the asset will generate future economic
benefits that outweigh its cost.

During the period ended 31 December 2022, the Group capitalised £25.1m of staff costs [2021: £1.2m). If, iIn management's judgement, it cannot
be determined that the recognition criteria will be satisfied, the costs of the project are expensed to the income statement.
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3.1

OPERATING PROFIT

REVENUE

227 day

period ended

Year ended 2022 2021

Revenue: £m £m
Rendering of goads and services 544.1 319
interest income 86.5 0.8
Total revenue 630.6 32.7

Management has identified the Group's divisions as UK Shareholder Services, US Shareholder Services, Retirement Salutions, Customer Resolutions, Credit,
Fraud & Analytics, Other Digital and Interest, in line with how the Group runs and structures its business

227 day

period ended

Year ended 2022 2021

£m £m

Shareholder Seryces - Uk 128.8 6.6
Shareholder Services - US 2186 12.9
Retirement Solutions 1089 6.2
Customer Resolutions 445 2.1
Credit, Fraud & Anaiytics 299 33
Other Digital 13.3 0.8
Interest 36.5 0.8
Total revenue 630.6 327

227 day

Year ended 2022 period ended

2021

Reported revenye by geographical market £m £m
UK and Europe 356.2 19.8
USA 274.4 12.9
Total revenue 630.6 32.7

227 day

Year ended 2022 period ended

2021

Timing of revenue recognition £m £m
Point in tirme 140.8 7.9
Over time 483.8 24.8
Total revenue 630.6 32.7

Point in time revenue pnmarily relates to share and foreign exchange dealing revenue streams, where the performance obligation 1s fulfilled when the
transaction completes; corporate action fees, where these are dependent on transactions closing; and revenue from licences sold by the Group, where
revenue Is recognised once licences have been delivered, accepted by the client and the Group's performance obligations satisfied in full.

Over time revenye primarily relates to our share registration businesses. including corporate actions where the Group has a contractual right to revenus for
work perfermed, our pensions administration business, aur custamer resolutions business and software support services.
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3.1

3.2

REVENUE [CONTINUED)

Unfulfilled performance obligations

The table befow shows the aggregate amaunt of the Group's contracted transaction prices allocated to the contractual performance obligations that are
unsatisfied ar partially satisfied at the reporting date. The Group anticipates recognising this revenue as, or when, the contractual performance obligations
are satishied:

Shareholder Shareholder Retirement Customer Credit Fraud &

Services - UK Services - US Solutions Resolutions Analytics Cther Digital Total
31 December 2022 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Less than one year 29.3 55.0 48.4 1.6 5.3 - 139.6
Between one and five 57.1 57.1 90.0 Q.2 10.5 - 214.9
years
More than five years - Q.1 31.2 - - - 31.3

86.4 112.2 169.6 1.8 15.8 - 385.8

[previously Remediation and Credit Services)

Retirement
Solutions
Shareholder Shareholder [previcusly Pension Custormer Credit Fraud &
Services - UK Services - US Services} Resolutions Analytics Other Digital Total
31 December 2021 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Less than ane year 32.1 37.9 S1.3 0.6 7.2 - 1291
Between one and five yea 711 29.8 78.1 0.6 225 - 2021
More than five years - 0.2 26.6 - - - 26.8
103.2 67.9 156.0 1.2 29.7 - 358.0

The table above represents the contractual consideration which the Group will be entitled to receive from customers, The total revenue that will be earned
by the Group will also include transactianal revenue, new wins, scope changes and contract extensions. However these elements have been excluded from
the figures above, as they are not contracted and the revenue will be earned as the work 15 perfarmed.

Many of the Group's contracts renew automatically until cancelled by the other party. At 31 December 2022, these contracts represented a significant
proportion of the Group's cantractual revenues. However these contracts have not been included in the analysis above, a5 the Group typically has 2
contractual right to revenue for a period of 12 months or less.

In addition, the Group has taken the practical expedients under IFRS 15 and has excluded the following revenue:
- contracts with a life of less than one vear; and

- revenue that is earned and Invoiced as the work is performed.

OTHER EXPENSES

227 day

Year ended 2022 period ended

2021

Expenses by hature: £m £m
Employee costs capitalised in respect of software development (25.1) 1.2
Printing and postage 29.6 1.4
Contractors 6.4 0.4
Prermises costs 9.7 0.4
Short-term |ease costs 0.3) Q.2
Gavernment grants 0.7 (0.1)
Fines and settlerments 8.8 0.1
Qther general business costs 14.1 1.2
Total administrative costs 42.5 2.4

Due to the early termination of leases where property was exited in previous years, there was 2 release of finance lease habilittes in 2022 which gave rise to
a credit of £1.0m. This has been included in short-term lease costs above.
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3.3

3.4

STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

The average monthly number of persons employed by the Group {including directors} during the year was as follows:

Perlod ended

Year ended 2022 3021

Number of employees - by function: Number Number
Operations 5,245 5,211
Suppeort functions 1,038 818
Sales and rmarketing 172 186
Total employees 6,455 6,215
Period ended

Year ended 2022 2021

Number of empioyees - by geography: Number Number
UK 3,545 3,566
North America 1440 1,427
Asia 1210 1,098
Rest of World 260 124
Tatal employees 6,455 6,215

Due to the timing of the acquisition in 2021, there were mil employees for most of the 2021 accounting period. Therefore the comparative staff numbers
shown abave are the average number af persons employed by the Group post acguisition in December 2021,

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

227 day
Year ended 2022 period ended
2021
£m £m
Wages and salaries 301.7 13.8
Social secunty costs 17.0 0.7
Qther pension costs 11.0 0.8
Total employee benefit expense 329.7 15.3
DIRECTORS' REMUNERATICN
The directors' remuneration for the year was as follows:
227 day
Year ended 2022 period ended
2021
£m £m
Wages and salanes 5.0 0.2
Social security costs 0.4 -
Other pension costs 0.1 -
Total 5.5 0.2
In respect of the highest paid director:
227 day
Year ended 2022 period ended
2021
£m £m
Wages and salaries 3.1 a1
Sacial security costs Q.3 -
QOther pension costs 0.1 -
Total 3.5 0.1

During the year, one director {2021: one) contributed to a defined contribution pension scheme and no share options were exercised (2021 none). &
number of the directors are remunerated directly by a related party for their services to that related party. They do not receive any additional remuneration
for the services which they provide ta the Group. There is no charge for these casts from the related parties to the Group and these costs are excluded from
the total cost in note 3.4,
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1.1

INVESTMENTS
BUSIMESS ACOUISITIONS
There were no acquisitions in the year ended 31 Decemnber 2022,

£quiniti (Restated)
On 9 December 2021, the Graup purchased the entire issued share capital of Equinii Group ple and 1ts subsidiares [Equiniti) for cash consideration of £672 Om. Equinit 1s an

international technology-led services and payments business based in the United Kingdom.

The Group took control of the business on 9 December 2021. On this date the business had net assets with a fair value of £188.0m. The fair value of the assets and hiabilities acquired
an 9 December 2021 have been adjusted and restated below to show net assets of £185.6m,

The results of the business have been consolidated since the date of contrel and Equiniti contnbuled £24. /m of revenue and £1.0m loss before income tax to the Group's results for
the 22 day period ended 31 December 2021. If the business had been acquired on 19 May 2021, it would have contributed an additional £235.3m of revenue and £45.7m of losses
before tax to the Group's results in 2021,

Post-acquisition, Egquinit Group ple re-regsstered at Companies House as tquimiti taroup Ltd and 15 referred 1o as such in note 4.6

The consolidated financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2021 marked the fair values of software, brands. customer contracts and related relationships as prowisional.
The value of goodwill reflected amounts In relaticn to the expected benefit of the ability to generate new streams of revenue and expected synergles of combining the operations of
Equiniti and the Group. These prowsional amounts were subject to further svaluation and adjustment. In accardance wath accounting standards, and following a detailed review,
adjustments have been idennfied which have reducad net assets acquired by £2.4m, with an equal increase in goodwaiil.

in accordance with IFRS 3, the Statement of Fingneial Pasition as at 31 December 2021 has been restated. The 2cquisiion note has been restated as below. The other primary
statements were unaffected by this restatement.

Measurement

period adjustment Restated
Fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed £m £m £m
Praperty, plant and equipment 422 - 42.2
Intangible assets 5315 {2.4) 529.1
Trade and other receivabies 398 - 39.8
Contract fulfilment assets 44.1 - 44,1
Cash and cash equivalents 591 - 58.1
External loans and borrowings (303.5) - (309.5)
Post-employment benefits (23.8 - {23.6}
Provisions (18.1) - {18.1)
Lease liabilmes {30.1} - {30.1)
Deferred income tax liabihties (43.7 - 43.7)
Other financial habdities (4.3) - {4.3)
Trade and ather payables {74.3) - {74.3)
Cantract fulfilment liahilities (25.1) - {25.1)
Net identifiable assets 188.0 (2.4) 185.6
Nan-contrelling interest (5.0 - {5.0}
Hedgng reserve {0.6) - {as)
Goadwl| on acquisitian 489 6 2.4 492 0
Totat consideration 672.0 - 672.0
Cash acquired (59.1) - {59.1)
Net cash outflow in the period ended 31 December 2021 612.9 - 612.9
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4.1

4.2

BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (CONTINUED)

AST {Restated)
On 9 Decetber 2021, the Group purchased the entwe wsued share capital of Armour Holdoo Inc and 1ts subsidianes {AST). There was no cash consideravan payable, as the Group

assumed responsibility for settling ASTs external debt faciities AST 1s a provider of ownership data management, analyties and adwsory services to public and private corporate
1ssuers and mutual funds in the U.S, and private companies globally and 1s based in the Urited States of America

The Greup took control of the business on 9 December 2021. On this date the business had net habilites with a fair value of £248 2m. The farr value of the assets and liabilities
acquired on 8 December 2021 have been adjusted and restated below to show net liabilities of £250.3m.

The results of the business have been consalidated since the date of control and AST cantnbuted £8.0m of revenue and £20 9m loss befare income tax to the Group's results for the
22 day peniod ended 31 December 2021 If the business had been acquired on 19 May 2021, 1t would have contributed an additional £89 1m of revenue and £62 1m loss befare
income tax to the Group's results in 2021,

The consolidated financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2021 marked the fair values of software, brands, customer contracts and related relationships as provisional.
The value of goodwill reflected amounts in relation to the expacted benefit of the ability to generate new streams of revenue and expected synergies of combining the operations of
AST and the Group. These provisional amounts were subject to further evaluation and adjustment. In accordance with accounting standards. and following a detaled review,
adjustments have been identified which have reduced net assets acquired by £2 1m, with an equal increase in goodwill.

in accordance with IFRS 3, the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2021 has been restated The acguisition note has been restated as below The other pnmary
statements were unaffected by this restatement

Measurement

period adjustrment Restated
Fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed £m £m £m
Property, plant and equipment 131 - 131
Intangible assets 2853 iz 233.2
Trade and other receivables 247 - 24.7
Contract fulfilment assets 11.2 - 11.2
Cash and cash equivalents 416 - 41.6
External loans and borrowings {457.3) - {457.3}
Post-employment benefits (3.8) - (3.8)
Lease liahilities (10.0) - {10.0)
Deferred incame tax habiines {101.1) - (101 1)
Trade and other payables (47.0) - 470y
Contract fulfilment liabulities [4.8) - {4.9)
Net identifiable liabilities {248.2) {2.1) {250.3)
Goodwill on acguisition 248.2 2.1 250.3
Tatal consideration - - -
Cash acquired 41.8) - {41 6)
Net cash outflow in the period ended 31 December 2021 (41.6) - {41.5)

The acquisiuan-related expenses of acquining Equinit and AST during the period ended 31 December 2021, such as legal fees and stamp duty, amounted to £51 7m This included a
completion fee payable te Sins of $20.1m. These costs were included In legal and professional fees in the Income statement for the period ended 31 December 2021.

BUSINESS DISPOSALS

Business disposals are businesses that have been exited during the vear ar are in the process of being disposed of. None of the Group's business exits in 2022 meet the definition of
‘discontinued operations’ as stipulated by IFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations {IFRS 5], which requires disclasure and comparatives to be restated
where the relative size of a disposal or bustness closure 1s significant which 15 normally understood to mean a reported segment Accordingly, the separate presentation described
below does not fall within the requirements of IFRS & concerning discontinued operations.

Equiniti iCS Lid
On 30 Navember 2022, the Group sofd its Equiniti ICS Ltd business to Vela UK Holdco Ltd, for initial consideration of £11 8m and deferred cansideratian of, up to £1.3m. Unul the

date of sale, Equinmit ICS Ltd was part of the Group's Other Digrtal divisian.

Loss on busingss disposal £m
intangible assets 2832
Tangble assets 10
Trade and other receivables 43
Cash 0.9
Trade and other payables (2.4)
Total net assets disposed of =
Cash purchas? consideration recerved 1.8
Deferred cansideration L
Costs of disposal:

- Transaction costs - paid e
- Transaction costs - accrued (0.1)
- Onerous lease provision o3
Total net consideration received 114
Loss on business disposal (20.5)

There were no business disposals in the period ended 31 December 2021
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44

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold
improve Office Fixtures &
ments equipment fittings Total
_ fm £m £m £m
Cost
Acquisition of business 69 18.0 0.1 250
Additions g1 0.7 - a8
Translation adjustment {0.1) {C.1) - {0.2)
Balance at 31 December 2021 6.5 186 0.1 25.6
Accutnulated depraciation
Depreciaton charge for the year 0.1 05 - 06
Balance at 31 December 2021 0.1 0.5 - 0.6
Net book value
Balance at 31 December 2021 6.8 18.1 0.1 25.0
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2022 6.9 186 0.1 25.6
Additions 02 37 349
Dispasals {3.6} 0.5) (4.1}
Translation adjustment 0.7 3.1 - 3.2
Ralance at 31 December 2022 4.2 24.9 0.1 29.2
Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2022 ol 0.5 - 0.6
Depreciation charge for the year 21 5.8 Q.1 8.0
Disposals (2.8} (0.6 - (3.4)
Translation adjustment G.4 2.2 - 2.6
Balance at 31 December 2022 {0.2) 7.8 0.1 7.8
Net book value
Balance at 31 December 2022 4.4 17.0 - 214
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
Office
Property equipment Total
£m £m £m
Cost
Acquisitian of business 302 Q.1 30.3
Translanan adjustment {0.3) - {0.3)
Halance at 31 December 2021 299 0.1 e
Accurnulated depreciation
Depreciation charge for the year 0.5 - a5
Translation adjustrment {0.1} - {0.1}
Balance at 31 December 2021 04 - 0.4
Net book value
Balance at 31 Cecember 2021 295 0.1 9.6
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2022 299 0.1 30.0
Additions 8.3 - g3
Drsposals {4.3) - [4.3)
Translation adjstment 12 - 12
Balance at 31 December 2022 35.1 0.1 35.2
Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2022 04 - 0.4
Depraciation charge for the year 8.2 - 82
Disposals 23 - {2.3}
Translation adjustment 0.6 06
Balance at 31 December 2022 6.9 - 6.9
Net book value
28.2 2.1 8.3

Balance at 31 December 2022

€0
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Customer
relationships and
Goodwii Software brands Total
£m £m £m £m
Cost
Acquisition of busimess 737.8 298.3 518.5 1,554.6
Additions - 13 - 13
Translation adjustrment {5.3) {1.91 (6.9) {14.1)
Measurement perod adjustment 4.5 - - 4.5
Balance at 31 December 2021 restated 737.0 297.7 5116 1,546.3
Accumulated amortisation
Amortisation charge for the period - 5.0 2.8 7.8
Translation adjustment - (0.2) (0.4 (0.6}
at 31 December 2021 - 4.8 1.4 7.2
Net book value
Balance at 31 December 2021 restated 737.0 2929 500.2 1,533.1
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2022 restated 737.0 2977 Si11g 1.546.3
Additions - 336 - 386
Disposals {16.7) {13 4) {13 3) {43.4}
Translation adjustment 26.3 15.3 333 74.9
Balance at 31 December 2022 746.6 338.2 5316 1,616.4
Arcumulated amortisation
Balance at 1 January 2022 - 4.8 24 7.2
Amortisation charge for the year - 633 352 385
Impairment 1556 147 36.0 206.3
Disposals - (7.6) - (7.6
Translation adjustment - 6.7 3.4 101
] at 31 December 2022 155.6 81.9 77.0 314.5
Net book value
Balance at 31 Decernber 2022 591.0 256.3 454.6 1,301.9

Software predominately relates to investment in enhancing the functronality of the Group’s main operating platforms. Included within additions in the year to 31 December 2022 1s
£25.1m (2021 £1 2m} of directly attributabie employee sraff costs that have been capitaised in respect of internal software development. Software includes £23.6m (2021; E25.6m]
for assets which were stll under construction at 31 December 2022, These assets are not yet avallable for use, so no amartisation has been charged to the income statement.

Included within customer relationships and brands ts customer relationships with a carrying value of £394 8m (2021: £434.3m) and a remaining useful ife of between 8 - 20 years and
brands with @ carnang value of £62.1m {2021: £74.9m) and a remaining useful [ife of 14 years (2021 15 years},

Goadwill s the only intangible asset with an indefinite [ife.

Goodwill
Goodwill arose on the EQ and AST acquisitions i the prior penod. Goodwill 1s manitered by management in line with the Group s operating segments, which are the lowest cash-

generating units {CGUs). Shareholder Services; Retirement Solutions; Customer Resolutrons: Credit, Fraud & analytics, and Other Digital In 2021 Customer Resolutions, Credit Fraud
and Analytics and Other Digital represented a single division : Remediation & Credit Services (also known as EQ Digital]. Following the acquisition, goodwill has been reclassified across
the new CGU's as shown belaw to reflect the way the business 15 now managed and operates with independently identifizble cashflows in the new divisions of Custorner Reselutions,

Credit, Fraud & Analytics, and Other Digital.

Opening balance Disposal of Translation
restated Reclassification business Impairment adjustment Clasing balance
Year ended 31 December 2022 £m £m £m £m £m £m
184 3 17.2 - - 10 2015

Shareholder seraces - UK

Sharsholder services - LS 1813 - - - 753 316.6
Rebrement Solutions 615 - - - _ 615
Remediation & Credit Services 1981 {198 1) - - - -
Custamer Resolutions - 54,7 - {44.3) _ 104
Credit, Fraud and Analytics - 104.8 - {104 8) - -
Qther Digital 18 214 {16.7} {6 5) - -
Total goodwill 737.0 - (16.7} {155.6) 26.3 591.0

&1
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4.5

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing

Goodwill 15 tested at least annually for impairment. The recoverable amount of each CGU has been determined in accordance with 1AS 36 Impairment of Assets. This 1s determined
from value-in-use calculatione, being the present value of netcash flows generated by the business over the period for which management expects ta benefit from the business.

&s part of the annual financial plarning process, the Group's divisions {CGUs) are required te submit budgets for the next year and financial forecasts for the fallowing four years.
These plans are approved by the Board and represent management's best view of future revenue and cash flows.

The budgets and forecasts of EBITDA include a number of assumptions and those cancluded key to certain CGUs have been listed below:

Retirement Solutions

# Renewal of MyCSP contract and adequate replemishment of the existing customer base.

* Margin improvements driven by efficiencies through off-shoring, autormation and digital transformanon.
Customer Resolutions

» Remediation volumes to increase as regulators respand to complaints about mis-selling af motor finance
Credit, Fraud & Analytics

* New revenue stréams to gerierate higher profit imargins, alieved through a change in investment policy

The other key assumptions ysed within the Group’s financia! forecasts by CGU include discount rates, used to discount the projected cashflows to their net present value and the
terminal grawth rate applied beyond the approved forecast periad. The discount rate for the group and terminal growth rate have been determined with reference to ather industry
comparable companies.

For the prior period, the Directors believed that there was ne matenal change to these assumptians between the date of acquisition (9 December 2021) and the period end date {31
Decembier 2021}

Impairment tests
The outcome of the Impairment assessment has been that an impairment has been recognised against Customer Resolutions, Credst Fraud and Analytics, and Other Digital as shown
above This s because the recoversble amount has been calculated as being lower than the carrying value of the net assets of thase CGUs

Assumptions in determining the recoverable ameunt were that the period on which management approved forecasts are based 15 5 years for each division {2021: 5 years] and that the
fong term growth rate applied beyond the approved forecast penod is 2.0% (2021: 2.0%)

Shareholder Services - Sharehoider Retirement Customer Credit, Fraud & Other
Year ended 31 December 2032 UK Services - US Solutions Resalutions Analytics Digital
Discount rate pre-tax 11.8% 12.3% 11.6% 12.7% 130% 9.2%
Recoverable amount, less het assets 245.1 166.4 38.3 (47.0) (156.6) {139.1}

(previously Remediation and Credit Services}

Retirement
Salutions
Shareholder Services - Shareholder (praviously Customer Credit, Fraud & Other
Period ended 31 December 2021 UK Services - US  Pension Services) Resolutians Analytics Digital
Discount rate pre-tax 10.8% 7.8%- 12.0% 10.7% S 9% 5.9% 9.9%

Recoverable amount, less net assate - -

Sensitivity analysis

The key assumptions used |0 the value-in-use model are the assumed discount rates, the long-term growth rates and the year five EBITOA, which s considered to be closely aligned to
cash flow. Key assumptions impacting the year five ERITDA are included abave. The discount rate has been calculated using the capital asset pnicing model, infarmed by comparable
market-observed data points {such as the beta and nsk-fres rate) where avallable. The long-term growth rate is based on GDP predictions. As these are, tn part judgemental, and
recognising that different users might arrive at different assumptions dependent on the use to which they are being put, we have demonstrated in the table befow the sensitivity of
each of these assumptions

The table below considers the change required to each of the key assumphions before the divisional headroom is reduced to £nil.

Highest Lowest
pre-tax discount  long-term growth Change in year 5
Year ended 31 December 2022 rate rate EBITDA,
Sharehalder Services - UK 16.5% -3 6% -118 8%
Sharehalder Services - US 14.2% 01% -52.2%
Retirement Solutions 13.6% -0.2% -24.8%

The Board considered whether any reasonably possible change to a combination of the key assumptions could result In an impairment and concluded that there were none for UK
shareholder Services or U Shareholder Services. For Retirement Solutions the year 5 EBITDA assurmes the MyCSP contract 1s renewed, a change to this assumption could lead to an
impairment. Far Credit Fraud and Analytics and Custemer Resolutions there could be potential for further impairment if the assumptions detalled above do not transpire. Other Digital
has been fully impared in 2022 so no further impairment s considered.
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Qrhit Private Holdings | Ltd
Registration number: 13408201

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Directars consider the value of the Investments to be supparted by their underlying assets. The Company has the follawing rmvestments in subsidiaries

Qwnership %
on 31
December Cwnership % on 31
Name of controlled entity  Registered office address Principal activities 2022 December 2021
Direct Investments
Qrbit Private Holdings | Ltd Highdown House, Yeoman \Way, Warthing, West Sussex, BN9S 3HH,  Holding company 100 100
United Kingdom
Armor Holdeo, Inc 2711 Centerulle Road, Suite 400, wilmington, BE 19808, United Holding campany 100 100
States of America
indirect Investments
American Stack Transfer & B0 State Street, Albany, NY 12207, United States of America Limited purpose trust company 100 100
Trust Company, LLC
Armer Holding II, LLC 80 State Street, Albany, NY 12207, United States of America Holding company 100 100
Armer Intermed ate 2711 Centerville Road, Suite 400, Wilmington, DE 19808, Umited Holding company 100 100
Company. LLC States of Armerwca
AST Fund Saolutions, LLC 2711 Centerwlle Road, Suite 400, Wilmington, DE 19808, United Praxy solicitation 100 160
States of America
AST Private Company 2711 Centerville Road, Wilmington, DE 13808 United States of Consultaney 100 100
Salutions, Inc. America
Boudicca Proxy Ltd Highdown House, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN39 3HH,  Proxy solicitation 100 100
United Kingdom
Breaklyn Property LLC 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, New Castle County, Delaware Dormant 100 100
19808, United States of Armerica
Canadian Stock Transfer 2711 Centerwille Road, Suite 400, Wilmingtan, DE 19808, United Halding campany 100 100
Holdings LLC States of America
Charter. Net Limited Highdown House, Yeaman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BNS9 3HH,  Dormant 100 100
United Kingdom
Charter Ux Limited Highdown House, Yearnan Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 3HH,  Software service provider 100 100

United Kingdom
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4.6 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES [CONTINUED)

Ownership % on 31 Ownership % on 31

Name of controlled entity  Registered office address Principal activities December 2022 December 2021

Circle of Insight Limted Highdown House, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 3HH,  Dormant 100 100
United kKingdoem

Claybrook Computing sutherland House, Russell Way, Crawley, West Sussex, RH10 1UH, Computer software consultancy 100 100

Limsted United Kingdem

Connaught Secretanes Highdown House, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN9S 3HH,  Dormant 100 100

Limited United Kingdem

Custodian Nominees Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex, BN99 6DA, Dormant 100 100

Lirmted United Kingdem

David Venus & Company  Highdown Hause, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN33 3HH,  Dormant 50 50

LLP United Kingdom

D.F. King & Ca , Ine 2711 Centervillz Road, Wilmingtan, DE 19808, United States of Proxy solicitation 100 100
America

O F. kng Acquisition LLC 2711 Centerville Road, Wilmington, DE 19808, United States of Holding company 100 100
America

D F. King Holding LLC 2711 Centerville Road, Wilmigton, DE 19808, United States of Hofding company 100 100
America

Donlin, Recana & Company, 80 State Street, Albany, Ny 12207, United States of America Debt consultancy 130 100

In¢

Earth Private Holdings Ltd ~ Highdown Hause, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 3HH,  Holding company 1ac 100
United Kingdom

EQTekspza.o Building C, Equal Business Park, Wielicka 28B, Krakdw, Matopelskie,  Technology enabled services 100 100
Poland

Equiniti Benefartar Limited Highdown House, Yeaman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 3HH,  Non-trading 100 100
United Kingdom

Equiniti Corporate Highdown Hause, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN39 3HH,  Dormant 100 100

Nominess Limited United Kingdom

Equinit Data Limited Highdown Hause, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN9% 3HH,  Software service prowider 100 100
United Kingdem

Equiniti David venus Highdown House, Yeoman Wway, Worthing, West Sussex, BN93 3HH,  Company secretanal 100 100

Limited United Kingdem

Equiniti Delivery Services  Highdown House, Yeornan Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 3HH,  Non-trading 100 100

Lirmted United Kingdom

Equiniti Empjoyee Services  102B Newlands Plaza, CNR Lots & Dely, Newlands, 00181, South Africa Computer software development 130G 100

[PTY) Limitad

Equiniti Finance [Holdings) Highdown Hause, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN93 3HH,  Helding company 100 100

Ltd United Kingdom

Equiniti Financiat Services  Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex, BNS9 6DA, Financial services 100 100

Limited United Kingdom

Equinitl Gateway Limited Highdown House, Yeomnan Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN92 3HH,  Technology enabled services 100 100
United Kingdom

Equinits Global Payrnents  Highdown House, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN93 3HH,  International payment services 100 100

Lirnited United Kingdom

Equiniti Groyp Limited sutherland House, Russell Way, Crawley Wast Sussex, RH10 1UH Halding campany 100 100

Equiniti Holdings Limited  Highdown Hause, Yeoman way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN93 3HH,  Holding company 100 100
United Kingdom

Equiniti India {Private) DLF IT Park, 1/124, Mt Pagnamalle High Road, Ramapuram, Chennal,  Technology enabled services 100 100

Limited Tarnil Nadu 600 089, India

Equiniti ISA Nominees Highdown Hause, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN93 3HH,  Dormant 100 100

Limited United Kingdom

Equinitr {lersey) Limited 26 New Street, 5t Helier, JE2 3RA, Jersey Registrars 100 100

Equiniti KYC Solutions B.Y.  Danzigerkade 23B, 1013 AP, Amsterdam, Netherlands Software service provider 100 100

Equiniti KYC Systems B.V. Danzigerkade 238, 1013 AP, Amsterdam, Netherlands Software service provider 100 100

Equiniti Limited Aspect Hause, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex, BNSS 6DA, Registrars 100 100
United Kingdom

Equiniti Nomnees Limited  Highdown House, Yeorman Way, Weorthing, West Sussex, BN99 3HH,  Dormant 100 100
United Kingdom

Equiniti Pension Trustee  Sutherland House, Russell Way, Crawley, West Sussex, RH10 1UH, Daormant 100 100

Lirnited United Kingdom

Equiniti PMS Limited Sutherland House, Russeill Way, Crawley, West Sussex, RH1Q 1UH, Software service provider 100 100
United Kingdom

Equiniti Registrars Highdown Hause, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 3HH,  Dormant 100 100

Nominees Limited United Kingdom

Equinits Savings Nominees Highdown Hause, Yeoman Way, Waorthing, West Sussex, BN99 3HH,  Dormant 100 100

Limited United Kingdom

Equiniti Services Limited Highdown House, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BNS9 3HH,  Holding company 100 100
United Kingdom

Equiniti Share Plan Trustees Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex, BNSZ 6DA, Trustee company 100 100

Lirnited United Kingdom
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4.6 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES [CONTINUED)

Ownership % on 31 Ownership % on 31

Name of controlled entity  Registered office address Principal activities December 2022 December 2021

Equinit Shareview Limited  Highdown House, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN93 3HH,  Darmant 100 100
United Kingdom

Equiniti Solutions Limited Highdown House, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 3HH, Non-trading 100 100
United Kingdom

Equiniti Trust Company 25th Floar, 90 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10018, United States of Limited purpose trust company 100 100
America

Equinit {UK) Finance Ltd Highdown House, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN9S 3HH,  Non-trading 100 100
United Kingdom

Equiniti {US) Holdngs inc 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware, County of New Castle Holding company 100 190
19801, United States of America

Equinit (US) LLC 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware, County of New Castle MNan-trading 100 100
19801, United States of America

Equimiti [US) Serviges LLC 1209 Orange Street, Wilrmngtan, Delaware, County of New Castle Non-trading 100 100
19801, United States of America

icenet Limited Highdown House, Yeaman Way, Warthing, West Sussex, BN9S 3HH,  Non-trading 100 100
United Kingdam

Infarmation Software Highdawn House, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN93 3HH,  Hoiding company 100 100

Salutions Limited United Kingdam

Invigia International Limited Highdown House Yeaman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN9S 3HH,  Dormant 100 100
United Kingdom

Invigia Limited Highdown House, Yeaman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN9S 3HH,  Software service provider 100 100
United Kingdom

KYCnet By Danzigerkade 238, 1013 AP, Amsterdam, Netherlands Holding company 100 100

Lenwi Limited Highdown House, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BNS3 3HH,  Dormant 100 100
United Kingdom

Link Sharehalder Services, 80 State Street, Albany, NY 12207, United States of Amenca Asset recovery 100 ploja)

LLC

L R Normnees Limited Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, Wast Sussex, BN9S 604, Dormant 100 100
United Kingdom

Monldaes B.V. Claude Debussylaan 239, 1082MC Amsterdam Netherlands Holding company 100 100

MyCSP Limited Landmark House, Station Road, Cheadle, Sk8 785, United Kingdom Pensians admunistration 75 75

hyCSP Trustee Company Landmark House, Station Road, Cheadle, SK8 78S, United Kingdom Non-trading 75 75

Limited

MyCustomerfeadback com  Highdown House, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN93 3HH,  Non-trading 100 100

Limited United Kingdom

Fancredit Systems Ltd Highdown House, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN9S 3HH,  Business pracess outsaurcing 100 100
United Kingdom

Payrnaster [1836) Lirmited  Sutherland House, Russell Way, Crawley. West Sussex, RH10 1UH, Pensions administration 100 100
United Kingdam

Peter Evans & Associates Aspert House, Spencer Road, Lancing, \West Sussex, BN99 6DA, Business process outsourcing 100 100

Lrrmited United Kingdom

Prism Communications &  Highdown House, Yeaman Way Worthing, West Sussex, BNS9 3HH,  Company secretarial 100 100

Management Limited United Kingdom

Prism Cosec Limited Highdawn House, Yeoman Way, Warthing, West Sussex, BN93 3HH,  Dormant 100 100
Unrted Kingdom

Prasearch Asset Solutions  Aspect House, Spencer Road Lancing, West Sussex, BN99 6DA, Asset recovery 100 100

Limrted United Kingdom

Refresh Personal Finance  Highdown Hause, Yeaman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 3HH,  Nan-trading 100 100

Ltd

United Kingdorm
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Ownership % on 31 Ownership % on 31

Name of controlled entity  Registered office address Principal activities December 2022 December 2021

Richard Davies (nvestor Highdown House, Yearnan Way, Warthing, West Sussex, BN99 3HH,  Investar relations 100 100

Relations Limited United Kingdom

Riskfactor Salutions Limited Highdown House, Yearnan Way, Worthing, Wwest Sussex, BN99 3HH,  Software serwice provider 100 100
United Kingdom

Riskfactor Saftware Limited Highdown House, Yearnan Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 3HH,  Software serwice provider 100 100
United Kingdom

5LC Corporate Services Highdown House, Yearnan Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 3HH,  Dormant 100 100

Limited United Kingdom

SLC Registrars Limited Highdown House, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BNS9 3HH,  Dormant 100 100
United Kingdom

The Nostrum Group Limited Highdown House, Yeaman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BNS9 3HH,  Software service provider 100 100
United Kingdom

Topleve| Computing Limited | highdown 1louse, veoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN92 31E,  Software service provider 100 100
Umited Xingdom

Topleve| Development Highdawn House, Yeaman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 3HH,  Dormant 100 100

Lirmited United Kingdom

Topleve| Holdings Limited  Highdown House, Yeornan Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BNS3 3HH,  Holding company 100 100
Umited Kingdom

Toplevel software Limited  Highdown House, Yeornan Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 3HH,  Dormant 100 100
United Kingdom

Trust Résearch Services Highdown House, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 3HH,  Dormant 100 100

Limited United Kingdom

Wealth Nominees Limted  Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex, BN93 6DA, Dormant 100 100

United Kingdom

All the above investments are held in the Ordinary share capital of the company.

Audit exemption guarantee
The following subsidiaries took advantage of the exemption from audit of their indwidual financial statements, under Section 479A of the Gompantes Act 2008, for the year ended 31
December 2022:

Registration

Company name Registration number Company name number

Boudicca Proxy Ltd 07847924 Lenvi Limited 14062963
Charter Ux Limited 02453655 MyCSP Lirmited 07640786
Claybrank Computing Limited (1287205 Orbit Private Holdings | Ltd 13408832
Earth Private Holdings Ltd 13410052 Pancredit Systems Ltd 02215760
Equinuti Benefactor Limited Q4403677 Peter Evans & Associates Limited 01870532
Equinitl Data Limited 05350329 Prism Communicatiens & Management Limited 04352585
Equiniti Dawid Venus Limited 06351754 Prosearch Asset Selutions Limited 02158381
Equimti Finance {Holdings) Lid 11092909 Richard Davies Investar Relations Limited Q4557486
Equiniti Group Limited 07090427 Riskfactor Saftware Lirmted 03923431
Equiniti PMS Limited 03613039 Riskfactor Solutions Limited 02767525
Equinitl Sennces Limited 00756582 The Nostrum Group Limited Q4274181
Equiniti Share Plan Trustees Limited 03525002 Toplevel Computing Limited 02341302
Equiniti (UK} Finance Ltd 11092548 Toplevel Holdings Limited 03270082

Inwigia Limited 03318315
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5

5.1

5.2

5.3

WORKING CAPITAL

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2022 2021

£m £m

Trade receivables 514 49.8
Expected credit loss allowance (3.4) (3.0
Other recevables 9.2 111
Prepayments 12.0 12.7
Acerued interest income 12.4 1.1
Total trade and other receivables 823 71.7

The Group haolds trade recervables with the objective of collecting contractual cash flows. Settlement terms are generally 30 days from the
date of invoice. Excluding trade receivables, none of these financial assets are either past due or impaired. At the year end, trade receivables
are shown net of an expected credit loss allowance of £3.4m {2021: £3.0m).

Credit risk
The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was:
2022 2021
£m £m
Not past due 24.1 23.2
Past due 1-3C days 14.6 13.7
Past due 31-60 days 50 4.5
Past due 61-90 days 1.6 15
Past due 90-180 days 25 3.0
Past due180-360 days 2.1 2.5
Past due more than 360 days 1.5 1.4
Total trade receivables 51.4 49.8

Based on histaric performance of these contracts, the Group has an expected credit loss allowance in respect of trade receivables and accrued
income at the year end of £3.4m (2021: £3.0m}.

The movement in the year on the Group's estimated credit loss allowance on trade receivables, accrued interest income and contract

fulfilment assets is as follows:

2022 2021
£m £m
Balance at 1 January 30 -
Balances acquired from business acquisitions - 3.0
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable {0.9) -
Provision movements 1.3 -
Balance at 31 December 3.4 3.0
CONTRACT FULFILMENT ASSETS
2022 2021
£m £m
Accrued income 4690 48,7
Contract set-up costs 10.0 9.8
Total contract fulfilment assets 56.9 58.5
Non-current asset 4.0 183
Current asset 52.9 402
Total contract fulfilment assets 56.9 58.5

Accrued income represents the fair value of goods and services supplied to customers, for which the Group s entitled to recognise revenue,
which as at the reporting date 1s not yet invoiced or paid. All such assets are supported by client contracts and agreed invoicing and payment
schedules. There is no material expected credit loss allowance against accrued income.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Restated

2022 2021

£m £m

Trade payables 14.7 14.7
Accruals 64.6 61.6
Qther payables 187 20,7
Total trade and other payables 98.0 97.0
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5.4 CONTRACT FULFILMENT LIABILITIES

2022 2021
£m
Deferred income 27.1 25.4
Total contract fulfilment liabilities 27.1 25.4

Deferred income represents consideration received in advance of the related services or goads being provided to the customer and associated

revenue being earned.

Revenue recoghised in relation to contract fulfilment liabilities

2022 2021
£m
Amaunts recognised in revenue in the year/period which were held in deferred income at the start of the 21 ac
year/period ) )
22.1 3.6
5.5 PROVISIONS
Contingent Property Legal QOther Total
consideration provisions provisions provisions provisions
£m £rn £m £m
Balance at 1 January 2022 0.8 86 86 1.6 19.6
Balances disposed of with Business disposal - {0.2) - - (0.2
Additional provisions made during the year 0.1 EX:S - a7 4.6
Amounts utilised during the year - {1.7) {0.7) {0.1) (2.5)
Amounts released during the year - 13.8) - - (3.8}
Translation adjustment 0.1 01 - - Q0.2
Balance at 31 December 2022 1.0 6.8 7.9 2.2 17.9
Non-current liability 1.0 31 79 - 12.0
Current liability - 3.7 - 2.2 5.9
Total provisions 1.0 6.8 7.9 2.2 17.9
Contingent Property Legal Other Total
Rastated . . . . - L
consideration provisions provisions provisions provisions
£m £m £m £m
Balances acquired from business acquisitions 1.6 8.6 8.6 16 20.4
Amounts utilised during the period 0.8} - - - {0.8)
Balance at 31 December 2021 0.8 8.6 8.6 1.6 19.6
Non-current liability 08 6.6 - - 7.4
Current Lability - 2.0 8.6 16 12.2
Total provisions 0.8 8.6 8.6 1.6 19.6

Contingent consideration

A pravision for contingent consideration s at 31 December 2022 of £1.0m {2021: £0. 8m)] relates to various reguirements ta be met following
the Group's acquisitions. This is recognised at fair value through profit or loss and is derived from management's best estimate of the amounts
likely to be paid. The minimum value of these provisions could be £nil, up to a maximum of £1.4m. These were discecunted at an appropriate
post-tax discount rate at the time af the acquisitions and are provided within provisicns due to the uncertainty of the amount to ultimately be
paid. Management regularly reconsiders the appropriateness of the amounts expected ta be payable and the discount rate used, and updates

when appropriate. The remaining balance is expected to be utilised in 2023.

Property provisions

Property provisions relate to dilapidations and onerous non-rent costs. The balance in respect of dilapidations will be utihsed on vacation of
premises. The balance in respect of onerous non-rent costs will be released to the income staternent as the costs are incurred over the period

from 2023 to 2028,

Legal provisions

The Group is exposed to claims and [itigation proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. These matters are reassessed regularly
and, where obligations are probable and estimakle, provisions are made representing the Group's best estimate of the expenditure tc he

incurred. Due to the nature of the remaining claims, the Group cannot give an estimate of the period over which this pravision will unwind.
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6

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

2022 2021
Finance income £m £m
Interest income 0.1 -
Net foreign exchange gains - 9.4
Total finance income 0.1 9.4

2022 2021
Finance costs £m £m
Interest cost en term loan borrowings 89.9 5.6
Interest cost on revolving credit facility 2.3 -
Net finance cost relating to pension schemes 0.4
Interest cost on lease liabilities 1.8 0.1
Foreign exchange loss on translation of borrowings 423 -
Net gain on dervatives nat in a hedging relationship 0.1 0.2
Total finance costs 136.8 5.9
SHARE CAPITAL

2022 2021
Allotted, called up and fully paid £m £m
Shares issued 621.4 621.4
Balance at 31 December 621.4 621.4

2022 2021
Ordinary shares of £0.001 each Number Number
Shares Issued 621,446,005 621,446,005
Balance at 31 December 621,446,005 621,446,005

The Group issued 621,446,005 ordinary shares for cash consideration of £621.4m in the previous period, The shares have full voting, divdend and
capital distribution rights and do not confer any nghts of redemption. No additional shares were issued in the current year

OTHER RESERVES

Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of changes in the fair value of cash flow swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts, where
the hedged transactions have not yet occurred.

Translation reserve
The translation reserve represents the foreign exchange movements arising from the translation of financial statements in foreign currencies to the
presentational currency of the Group.,

DIVIDENDS

No dividends were paid in the year and the Board has not recornmended a final dividend payable m respect of the year ended 31 December 2022
{none in 2021).

67



Orbit Private Hofdings | Ltd
Registration number: 13408201

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

6.5

6.6

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

The Group cantrols ane non-wholly owned trading subsidiary, MyCSP Limitad, by virtue of a 75% shareholding in the company. The summarised
financial information far MyCSP Limited for the period post acguisition up to 31 December 2022, set out below, is prior to intercompany
eliminations.

2022 2021
Summarised statement of financial position £m £m
Nan-current assets 3.1 3.1
Current assets 33.6 33.5
Non-current lighilities {2.7) (4.8)
Current liabilities (14.2) (11.5)
Net assets 19.2 203

227 day period

2022 ended 2621
Summarised Statement of comprehensive incame for the year ended 31 December £m £m
Revenue 32.4 2.0
Profit for the period 4.6 Q.5
Other comprehensive income 1.1 -
Total comprehensive income 5.7 0.5

Transactions with non-controlling interests

25% of MyCSPR Limited 1s owned by employees of MyCSP Limited via an employee benefit trust and their shares rank pari passu with the remaining
share capital, including the right to receive annual dividends when declared. Dividends declared on shares held by the emplayee benefit trust are
warved In lieu of a bonus payment through payroll. MyCSP Limited accrues the bonus at the end of the year in the statement of financial position
and reflects the expense in its income statement. The bonus accrued in the current period was £1.6m and the tax saving was £0.3m. The net
amount of £1.3m is reflected within transactions with non-contreliing interests in the consolidated statement of changes i equity.

EXTERNAL LOANS AND BORROWINGS

2022 2021
£m £m
Term loans 702.4 624.8
Senior notes 280.7 245.1
Total external loans and borrowings 983.1 283.9
2022 2021
£m £m
Non-current 977.9 879.2
Current 5.2 4.7
Total external loans and borrowings 983.1 8839
Terms and debt repayment schedule Currency Closing interest rate Year of maturity
First Lien secured term loan £200.0m Sterling SONIA +5.75% 2028
First Lien secured term loan us dollar USD Libor +4.50% 2028
Revalving credit facility us dollar Reference rate + 4.25% 2026
Senior notes $350.0m Us dollar 8.50% 2029

The Group's debt facilities consist of £200.0m and $630.0m first hen secured term loans, $350.0m of senior notes and a $175.0m revolving credit
facihty (RCF). The Group incurred loan arrangement fees of £47.0m that are being spread over the period of the borrowings. The interest rate on
the Sterling term loan is hased on SONIA and the interest rate on the US Dollar term loan is based on USD LIBCR and going forward has transitioned
to SOFR post year end in January 2023. The senior notes have a fixed coupon of 8.5%. The facllities are committed with the RCF tranche maturing in
2026 and the tarm loans maturing in 2028 The senicr notes mature in 2029. There is a springing financial covenant in the RCF that will require the
group to test its ratic af first fien net debt to consolidated CBITDA (a5 defined in the loan agreement) an each calendar quarter end date that the
RCF is drawn mare than 35%. This ratic must not exceed 550:1 on each testing date. The margin payable on both the term leans and RCF is
determined by the ratio of first len net debt to EBITDA. The $630.0m term loan requires mandatory repayments, equivalent ta 0.25% of the initial
principal, on each calendar quarter end date; these payments were settled during the year.
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6.7

6.8

6.9

LEASE LIABILITIES
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2022 2021
£m £m
Non-current 27.5 28.9
Current 6.7 9.6
Total lease liabilities 34.2 38.5
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The movements during the year in financial habilities relating to financing activities and 2 reconciliation to net debt is shown below:
2022 2021
£m £m
Term loans 702.4 634.8
Senior notes 2807 2451
Revolving Credit Facility N _
Lease liabilites 34.2 385
Cash and cash eguwalents {67.1) (86.5)
Net debt 950.2 835.9
Liabilities from financing activities Other assets
Revolving credit Lease Cash and cash
Term loans Senior notes facility liabilities equivalents Total
£m £m £m £m £m £im
Net debt at 19 May 2021 - - - - - -
Liabilities acquired from business
- 7168 - 50.0 40.1 {100.7) 706 2
acquisitions
Cash flows (716.0} - {50.0} (1.6) 14.2 {753.4)
New loans, net af fees /423 252.0 - - - 894 .3 i
Interest 2.7 2.9 01 5.7
Foreign exchange movements (11.0) {5.8) [0.1) - {16.9)
Net debt at 31 December 2021 634.8 245.1 - 38.5 {86.5) 835.9
Cash flaws {50.3) (24.4) 162.2) (8.9 19.4 {126.4)
New loans, net of fees - - 59.7 - - 59.7
Interest 63.6 25.7 2.3 1.8 93.4
Foreign exchange movements 54.3 30.3 0.2 2.8 - 87.6 i
Net debt at 31 December 2022 702.4 280.7 - 34.2 {67.1) 950.2
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2022 2021
£m £m
Cash and cash equivalents per statement of financial pesition 67.1 86.5
67.1 855

Cash and cash equivalents per staternent of cash flows

In addition to the above, the Group holds certain cash balances with banks in a number of segregated accounts. These balances represent client
money under administration for third parties, and hence are not included in the Group's statement of financial position. The number of accounts

and balances held vary significantly throughout the year.

Cash and cash equivalents includes £16.2m {2021: £17.5m) and US$13.9m (2021: USS13.5m) of restricted cash which the Group is required to hold
by its financial regulators. This cash is not available for wider use by the Group
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6.10

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has exposure ta the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
- credit risk
- liquidity risk
- market risk

The Group's strategy and objectives for managing credit, liquidity and market risk are covered in its Treasury Policies. These policies are approved
annually by the Board and compliance 1s monitored on a monthly basis through the Treasury Committee. The Group's Audit & Risk Committee also
oversees how management monitors compliance with these policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management
framewaork. The Audit & Risk Committee is assisted in its oversight role by internal audit, which undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk
management cantrals and procedures, the results of which are reported te the Audit & Risk Committee.

Credit risk
Credit risk 15 the risk of financial {oss to the Group if a client or counterparty, including brokers, to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual

obligations. The Group's credit risk exposure is to its financial assets, being cash and cash equivalents, derivatives, trade receivables and contract
fulfilment assets.

Credit risk mitigation

The Group has strict controls around, and regularly monitors, the credit ratings of institutions with which it enters into transacticns, either on its
own behalf or for clients. The Group’s trade credit risk is relatively low given that a high proportion of the customer base are large listed companies
and public sector organisations. The Group has implemented procedures that require credit checks on potential customers before business is
undertaken,

The Group's treasury function anly transacts with counterparties that comply with the Treasury Palicies. Credit limits for cash deposits with
financial institutions are set using credit ratings from recognised rating agencies and exposuras are monitored monthly.

Liquidity risk

Liguidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be akle to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group's approach to managing liquidity
is to ensure, as far as possible, that the Group will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both narmal and stressed
conditiens.

The maximum exposure to liguidity risk, using undiscounted cashfiows, at the reporting dates was as follows:

Carrying Total centractual Within 1-2 2-5 After
Amount cash flows 1 year years years 5 years
31 December 2022 Note £m £m £Em £m £m £m
Trade and other payables 5.3 98.0 98.0 98.0 - - -
Term loans 6.6 702.4 1,080.4 75.8 68.5 138.2 747.9
Senior notes 6.6 280.7 4635 24.7 24.7 741 340.0
Lease habilities 6.7 34.2 37.3 6.7 5.3 11.1 14.2
Derivatives used for hedging 9.2 43.0 42.2 5.1 13.3 16.6 7.2
Total 1,158.3 1,721.4 210.3 111.8 290.0 1,109.3
Carrying Total contractual Within 1-2 2-5 After
Amount cash fiows 1 year years years 5 years
31 December 2021 Note £m £m £m £m £m £m
Trade and other payables 53 94.0 94.0 94.0 - - -
Termn loans 6.6 634.8 945.6 42.4 58.1 135.3 7G5.8
Seniar noteg 6.6 2491 435.2 22.0 22.0 G561 325.1
Lease liabilines 6.7 38.5 525 10.7 8.4 14.0 12.4
Derivatives used for hedging 9.2 0.2 0.3 (0.3} (0.3) 03 -
Total 1,016.6 1,527.6 168.8 BB.2 216.3 1,054.3

All trade and other payables are expected to be paid in six manths or less,

Liquidity nisk mitigation

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts on a regular basis, to ensure that its minimum committed funding headrocm, defined as corporate cash
plus unutilised revolving credit facility, is above the minimum policy threshold at all times. As at 31 December 2022, the Group had £67.1m (2021
£86.5m) of cash and a revalving credit facility of USD $175.0m, which was undrawn at the year end.
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6.10

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT {CONTINUED)

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates will affect the Group's income or the vailue of

its financtal instruments,

Interest rate risk

The Group holds interest-bearing assets in the form of cash and cash deposits. The interest earned on cash balances, including client and corporate
cash, is @ material revenue stream based on floating interest rates largely driven by changes in the Bank of England base rate and the US Federal
Reserve benchmark rate, therefore this interest revenue is susceptible to change. The Group's secured first lien term lcans and revolving credit
facility are subject to floating rate interest. The USD deneminated term loan will be effected by the forthcoming reforms to USD LIBCR and
transitioned to SOFR on 1 January 2023 with no risks arising from the transition and no changes to the risk management strategy

Interest rate risk mitigation

The Group uses mterest rate dervatwves to reduce the impact of movements in floating interest rates on the Group's financial statements. All
interest rate derivatives are approved by the Board in accardance with the Group's risk management policies and the Group does not enter into
speculative transactions in financial instruments or derivatives. All of the Group’s interest rate derivatives are designated in hedge relationships
under IFRS 8.

The Group has entered inta interest rate derivatives with total notional values of £765.0m and $830.0m to protect the interest income it earns on
cash balances held and administered on behalf of clientsin the UK and US.

The Group has not hedged the floating rate expasure on its floating rate debt. The $630.0m term loan and the RCF will be effected by the LIBOR
reforms. The Group Treasury function has completed IBOR transition and novated to SOFR on 1 January 2023.

The Group has applied the following reliefs in its 2021 financial statements that were introeduced by the amendments made to IFRS § in September
2019;

- when considering the highly probable requirement, the Group has assumed that the USD LIBOR interest rates on which the Group's debt are
based do not change as g result of IBOR reform.

Sensitivity analysis

In managing interest rate risks, the Group aims to reduce the impact of short and medium-term fluctuations on the Group's earnings. Qver the
longer-term, hawever, changes in interest rates will have an impact on consolidated earnings.

An increase of one percentage point in UK and US interest rates is expected to increase annual finance casts in 2023 for the Group by £7.4m, but
would increase interest income by £12.7m yielding a net increase of £5.3m. This analysis includes the current portfolio ¢f interest rate swaps, which
will reduce some of the earnings volatility resulting from mterest rate movements.

Farewgn exchange rate risk

The Group has expasure ta foreign exchange [FX) rate risk on cash flows and intragroup loans, particularly in relation to the Group’s operationsin
the Us, Poland and India. FX risk is managed by the Group's treasury function. Highly probable FX transactional exposures may be hedged for a
period of up to 12 manths, The Group will try te match the currency of its assets and liabilitres to mitigate FX translational exposures. Where thisis
not possible, dervatives may be used.

As at 31 December 2022 the Group had outstanding forward contracts against Sterling tataling FLN 60m and INR 3,792m, to hedge the expected
2023 cash flows required to run the Polish and Indian operations. These forward contracts are designated as hedges under IFRS 8.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's objectives for managing capital are to focus on delivering value for its shareholders by maintaining a strong capital base, whilst
ensunng it is able te conbinue effectively as a going concern and meet its regulatory requirements.

Total caprtal comprises total equity plus net debt, as shown In the consolidated statement of financial position. Net debt equates to the total of
external interest-bearing loans plus other lease liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents, as shown in the consclidated statement of financiaf
pasition and note £.9.

The policies for managing capital are designed to increase shareholder value by maximising profits and cash. The policies are set around the
budgeting and forecasting processes, with regular reviews of finandial data 1o ensure that the Group s tracking 1o the targeis set.
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6.11

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Regulated entities

In tha UK, the Group has several Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) regutated entities, the most significant being Equiniti Financial Services Limited
(EFSL). These entities must ensure that they have sufficient regulatory capital and liquidity to meet liabilities as they fall due, including under
potentially stressed conditions. EFSL has its own governance structure and holds monthly Board meetings and quarterly Risk and Audit Committee

meetings, to help ensure its regulatory objectives are met.

in the US, the Group has twe entities regulated by the New York State Department of Financial Services [DFS$), Equiniti Trust Company (EQTC) and
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC (ASTTC). EQTC is approved by the DFS as a limited licensed bank under the New York State Banking
Laws and has minimum capital requirements set by the DFS. To help meet its regulatory requirements, EQTC and ASTTC both have their own
governance structure, which includes a Board with independent non-executive Directors; an Examination Committee; an Audit Committee; and a
Remuneration and Nominatons Cammittee. ASTTC is subject to regulation and, from time to time, examinations by the LS. Securities and
Exchange Commission as a registered transfer agent and by the DFS as a state-chartered trust company.

2022 2021
Management of capital Note £m £m
Equity 216.5 5783
Term loans 6.6 702.4 634.8
Senior notes 6.6 280.7 249.1
Lease liabilities 67 34.2 38.5
Cash and cash equivalents 5.9 (67.1) {86.5)
Total equity plus net debt 1,166.7 1,414.2

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities are classified as per IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures {IFRS 7) according to the

following categories:

2022 2021
Financial assets Note £m £m
At amortised cost
Trade and other recewables 51 61.3 60.9
Contract fulfilment assets 5.2 56.9 58.5
Cash and cash equivalents 6.9 67.1 86.5
At fair value through profit or loss
Derivatives used for hedging 6.13 0.8 1.1
Total financial assets 186.1 208.1
2022 2021
Financial liabilities Note £m £m
At amortised cost
Trade and other payables 5.3 98.0 97.0
Contract fulfilment llabilities 5.4 27.1 25.4
Term loans 6.6 702.4 634.8
Lease liabilities 6.7 34.2 38.5
At fair value through profit or loss
Derivative used for hedging 6.13 43.0 0.2
Total financial liabilities 904.7 795.9
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6.12

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy
The foflowing table presents the Group's financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value.

2022
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets £m £m £m £m
Derivatives used for hedging:
Interest rate swaps - - - -
Forward contracts - 0.8 - 0.8
Total assets - 0.8 - 0.8
2022
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Liabilities £rm £m £m £m
Derivatives used for hedging:
Interest rate swaps - 428 - 428
Faorward contracts - 0.2 - 0.2
Total liabilities - 43.0 - 43.0
2021
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets £m £m £m £m
Derivatives used for hedging:
Interest rate swaps - 0.8 - 08
Forward contracts - 0.3 - Q.3
Total assets - 1.1 - 1.1
2021
Level 1 Level 2 Level3 Total
Liabilities £m £m £m £m
Derivatives used for hedging:
Interest rate swaps - a1 - 0l
Forward contracts - Q1 - Q.1
Total liabilities - 0.2 - 0.2

There were ho transfers between levels during the year {2021: none).

Valuation techniques used to derive level 2 fair values
Level 2 hedging derivatives comprise interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts. The interest rate swaps are fair valued using

forward interest rates extracted from observable vield curves and the forward foreign exchange centracts are far valued using the future
contracted exchange rates. The effects of discounting are generally insignificant for level 2 derivatives,

The Graup’s policy is to recognise transfers inte and transfers cut of farr value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or change n
arcumstances that caused the transfer.

The valuation technique used s a discounted cash flow model. There were no changes in valuation techniques during the year.

Group's valuation processes

The Group's Treasury department is responsible for monitoring the values of financial assets and liabilities required for financaial reporting purposes.
This team reports to the Group Chief Financial Officer and prepares presentations far the Audit & Risk Committee. Valuations are reviewed maonthly
at the Treasury Committee.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Due to the short-term nature of the current financial assets and current financial habilities, the carrying amaount of these items s considered to be
the same as their fair value. The term loans and revolving credit facility are carried at amortised cost. The borrowings are periodically contractually
repriced and to that extent are also exposed to the nisk of future changes in market interest rates. The majority of the borrowings have a fair value
which 15 nat materially different from their carrying amounts, since the interest payable on thase borrowings is either close to current market rates.
Material differences are identified only for the following borrowings:

2022 2021
Carrying
Amount Fair Value Carrying Amount Fair Value
£m £m £m £m
Senior notes 280.7 248.0 249.1 249.1

The fair values of nen-current borrowings are based an discounted cash flows using a current borrowing rate. They are classified as level 2 fair
values in the fair value hierarchy due to the instruments not being traded in an active market.
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6.13

DERIVATIVES

The Group's dervative portfolio comprises Interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts. Sterling denominated interest rate swaps
with noticnal values of £765.0m are used to hedge the interest income on client balances held in the UK. US Dollar denaminated interest rate
swaps with a notional value of $830.0m are used to hedge the interest income cn client balances held in the US,

The Group enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge its highly probable exposures to GBF/INR and GBP/PLN exchange rate
fluctuations as detailed in note 6.10.

Where the derivatives qualify far hedge accounting, and are designated as being in such refationships, fair value changes are recogmsed within
other comprehensive income. All derivatives, where hedge accounting is applied, are considered to he fully effective with changes in the fair value

of derivatives recognised in the hedging reserve within equity.
The following tables indicate the penads in which the cash flows associated with derivatives that are cash flow hedges are expected to occur and

are expected to impact the profil and luss.

Carrying Total contractual Within 6
amount cash flows months  6-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years
31 December 2022 £m £m £m £m £m £Em
Assets
Interest rate swaps 0.1 - - - - -
Forward contracts 0.7 - - - -
Total 0.8 - - - - -
Liabilities
Interest rate swaps {42.9) (43.7) 15.0} - {14.3} (24.4)
Forward contracts (0.1) {G.8) 10,5} (0.3) - -
Total {43.0) {44.5} {5.5) (0.3} {14.3} (24.4)
Carrying Total contractual Within &
amount cash flows months 6-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years
31 December 2021 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Assets
Interest rate swaps 0.8 0.9 0.8 0.6 {0.5) -
Forward contracts G.3 0.3 0.3 - - -
Total 1.1 1.2 1.1 0.6 (0.5} -
Liabilities
Interest rate swaps (0.1} {0.2) 0.2 0.2 0.3 {0.9)
Forward contracts {0.1) {C.1) (0.1} - - -
Total (0.2) (0.3) 0.1 0.2 0.3 (0.9}
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7 GOVERNANCE

7.1 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with key management personnel

Key management personnel (KMP) are considered to be the Executive Committee members who have authority, and responsibility, to contral,
direct or plan the major activities within the Group. The table below presents the compensation for the Executive Committee members. In
2021, due to the Group's short trading period (22days), KMP were c¢onstdered to be the Directors. Tharefore no comparative disclosure is
incfuded below, as the Graup's Directors' remuneration is set out in note 3.4.

Year ended

2022

£m

Wages and salaries 9.4
Saciat security costs 0.8
Cther pension costs 0.1
Total 10.3

One member of the Executive Committee is a Director and included in the remuneration above as well a5 in note 3.4. During the year, &
members of the Executive Cormnmittee contributed to a defined contribution pension scheme and no share options were exercised.

Transactions with ather related parties

Following the completion of the acqursition Equiniti Group plc in 2021, a cansultancy fee of £15.0m ($20.0m) became due te Siris Capital
Group, LLC, the ultimate controlling party for the Graup. Additionally the Group pays an annual monitoring fee of $1.5m to Siris Capital Group,
LLC In consideration for services provided to the Group. The amounts due for 2021 were unpaid at 31 December 2021 and included within
accruals {see note 5.3). The outstanding armount was settled m 2022, The amount due for 2022 was settied during the year and no amounts
are outstanding at 31 December 2022.

Sumrnary of transactions with Non Controlling interest
Services provided to MyCSP Limited by the Group during the year were £9.2m (2021 £7.7m) and Services prowided by MyCSP Limited to the
Group during the year were £1.9m (2021 £1.2m).

At year end there were halances due from MyCSP of £5.6m (2021 £2.3m).

MyCSP Limited is a member of the Group's corporation tax group and received tax relief of £6.4m {2021: £0.4m) in respect of the 2020
corporation tax liability. MyCSP pravides an unsecured loan facility to Equiniti Holdings Limited, the outstanding balance due to MyCSP Limited
at the yvear ended 31 December 2022 was £27.9m {2021: £30.5m).

During the year MyCSP Limited declared a dividend of £6.1m (£153.35 per share) {2021 - £3.4m {£86.50 per share)). As the Employee Trust has
waved its night to a dividend, an equivalent amaount of £1.5m {2021 - £0.8m), was paid as & bonus to eligible MyCSP Limited employees
through payroll. The balance of £4.6m {2021 - £2.6m) was paid to Group dunng the year.

7.2 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

During 2032, the Group announced the 2021 long term incentive plan (the "Plan"). The Group granted a number of incentive rghts {"IRs") to
Executive Committee members and selected employees. Each IR represents a contingent right to receive payment in the form of shares upon
the occurrence of a hquidity or sale event.

The value of the award will be based on a multiple of invested capital {"MOIC") to the investors using the initial purchase price at acquisition in
2021, and participants wili share in the equity value creation over and above the original capital mvested based on the number of IRs awarded
and the grawth in value since the acquisitian date. These IRs vest aver a combination of time, achievement of MQIC and/or the occurrence af a
liquidity or sale event. The total number of IRs available for grant under the Plan is 70,600,000,

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 54,185,500 IRs were granted and 3,000,500 |IRs were forfeited As of 31 December 2022,
51,185,000 |Rs were outstanding of which 15,637,900 are unvested and 4,836,100 have time-vested, which qualifies them for pay-out at the
point of a liquidity or sale event,

The IRs were granted during 2022 and are equity settied. The far value of the scheme was determined using a Monte Carlo apticn pricing
madel.

The total charge for the year relating to this scheme was £1.4m {2021: £n1l) and is included within the Employee benefit expense note 3.3.
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7.3 AUDITORS REMUNERATION

2022 2021
£m £m
Fees payable to Group's external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, and its associates were as follows:
- Audit of the parent company and consclidated financial statermnents 1.0 1.2
J.4 d.4

- Audit of the Company's subsidiaries
Audit fees 14 1.6
Fees payable to Group's auditors and its associates for non-audit services were as follows:

- Other assurance services required by regulation 0.3 0.4
- Other assurance services - 0.3
- QOther services 0.5 0.2
Non-audit fees 0.8 0.9
Total 2.2 2.5

Other assurance services required by regulation includes £0.3m {2021: £0.3m) for services performed in the UK in relation to the CASS audit of
Equiniti Financial Services Limited and nil {2021: £0.1m) for services perfarmed in the USA in relation to reparting required for Equiniti Trust
Company. Gther assurance services in 2021 includes £0.3m for comfort letter work associated with the issue of the $350m senier notes, Other
services includes £0.2m {2021 £0.2m) for tax advisory services performed in the US and £0.3m (2021: nil} for tax compliance in the LS.
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8

8.1

TAXATION
INCOME TAX CREDIT/{CHARGE)
2022 2021
Recognised in the income statement in the period: £m £m
Current tax:
Current period 6.4 -
Adjustment in respect of prior periods 0.5
Total current tax 6.9 -
Deferred tax:
Qrigination and reversal of temporary differences {42.3} 13
Adjustment in respect of prior periods 5.8 -
Total deferred tax {32.5) 1.3
Total income tax [credit)/charge (25.6) 1.3
2022 2021
Reconciliation of effective tax rate: £m £m
Loss for the period (346.8) (50.0)
Total tax {credit) /charge {25.6) 1.3
Loss befgre tax (372.4) (48.7)
Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 19.0% (2021: 19%): {70.8) {9.3)
Non-deductible expenses - 11.4
Effect of permanently disallowable items 41.4 .
Changes in tax rates (6.5) {0.8)
Adjustment in respect of priar periods 10.3 -
Total incaome tax (credit)/charge (25.6) 1.3

The standard trate af carporation tax in the UK is 12.0% and accardingly the UK prafits for the period ta 31 Oecember 2022 are subject ta UK taxation at
that rate. Profits earned overseas are taxable at the respective local tax rate.

An Increase in the UK corporation tax rate from 19.0% to 25.0% (effective 1 April 2023) was substantively enacted an 24 May 2021. This will increase the
Group's future current tax charge accardingly. The deferred tax assets at 31 December 2022 that relate to the UK have been calculated based on this
rate, reflecting the expected timing of reversal of the related temporary differences.

80



Orbit Private Holdings | Ltd
Registraticn number: 13408201

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
8.2 DEFFRRFD INCOMF TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Recognised assets
Deferred income tax assets are atiributable to the following:

2022 2021
£m £
Property, plant and equipment 14.6 14.0
Employee benefits and other timing differences 40.7 12.9
Tax value of lusses carried forward 61.7 58.4
Tax assets 117.0 85.3
Net of tax liabilities (117.0) (85.3)
Net tax assets - -
Recognised ligbilities
Deferred income tax liabilities are attributable to the following:
Restated
2022 2021
£m £m
Intangible assets (237.8) {227.9)
Tax liabilities (237.9) {227.9
Net of tax assets 117.0 853
Net tax liabilities [120.9) {142.6)

The Group has recognised deferred tax assets In respect of tax losses carried forward on the basis that there are deferred tax losses.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of £72.9m {2021:£278.7m) of gross tax losses, due to uncertainty in terms of future recoverability.
The Group has no other unrecognised deferred tax assats,

Movements in deferred tax during the year:

QOpening Business Recognised Recognised Translation Closing

Year ended 31 December 2022 balance disposal in income in equity adjustment balarnce
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Property, plant and eguipment 140 - 0.4 - 0.2 14.6
Intangible assets (228.7) {1.1} 10.5 - {18.6) (237.9)
Employee benefits and other timing differer 12.5 - 19.5 3.2 5.1 40.7
Tax value of losses carried forward 58.4 - 2.1 - 1.2 61.7
(143.4) {1.1) 32.5 3.2 [12.1) {120.9)

Movements in deferred tax during the period (restated):

Opening Business Recognised Recognised Translation Closing
Period ended 31 December 2021 balance acquisition inincome in equity adjustment balance
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Property, plant and equipment - 14.5 10.5) - B 14.0
Intangible assets - (232.2) 1.9 - 2.4 {227.9)
Employee henefits and other timing differer - 13.6 {1.0} 0.3 - 12.9
Tax value of losses carned forward - 60.1 1.7} - - 58.4
- {144.0) [1.3) 0.3 2.4 {142.6}
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9.3

OTHER DISCLOSURES

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2022 2021
Non-current £m fm
Derwatives used for hedging {note 6.13) - 0.7
Total - 0.7

2022 2021
Current £m £m
Derivatives used for hedging {note 6.13) 0.8 0.4
Total 0.8 0.4
OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

2022 2021
Non-current £m m
Dernatives used for hedging (note 6.13) 37.8 0.1
Total 37.8 0.1

2022 2021
Current £m £m
Derivatives used for hedging (note 6.13) 5.2 Q.1
Total 5.2 0.1

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Employees Gratuity Scheme

All employees in our Indian business, Equiniti India {Private) Limited, receive a one-off bonus on departure from the busmess, following the
completion of 5 years continuous service. The bonus 15 based on employee's salary and years in service. An actuarial valuation 1s ¢completed
annually and movements in the pravision have been recognised within the incorme statement.

The scherne had 1,115 active members as at the latest actuarial valuation on 31 March 2022 (31 Mareh 2021: 935). The principal assumptions are
the discount rate, rate of increase in salaries and attrition rate.

2022 2021

£m £m

Equiniti India (Private) Limited 0.5 g.4
0.5 0.4

Defined benefit pension pians

During the year the Group operated four funded defined benefit pension plans in the UK and cne in the US All of the plans are final salary
pensian plans and provide benefds to members in the form of a guaranteed level of pension, payable for Iife. The liability under all schemes is
based on final salary 2nd length of service to the empioyer. The asseis of the schemes are held independentiy of the Group's assets, in separate
trustee-administered funds. The Trustees of the pension funds are required by law to act in the interest of the fund and of all relevant
stakehglders. The |£S Pansion Scheme wags part of the dispasal of Equimit 1C5 Ltd on 30 Movermber 2022 and 50 the valuation of schame assets
/liabrlities at year end 13 shown as nil.

The net liability of the schemes is set out below:

2022 2021

£m £m

ICS Pension Scheme - {Q.3)
Paymaster Pension Scheme 12.7 205
Prudential Platinum Pension - MyCSP Limited 19 3.2

Prudential Platinum Pension - Equiniti Services Limmted {0.2) (0.1}
D.F. King & Company, Inc Pension Pfan 3.2 3.7
Total defined benefit pension plan net fliability 176 27.0

For the Uk pension plans, full actuanal valuations are performed every three years, which determine the funding required to efimvnate the net
pension plan liabilities The latest full valuatians tock place 1n 2021 and concluded in 2022 Except for the Equiniti Services Limited scheme
whereby the first full actuanal valuation was performed on the balances as at 31 December 2020,

All pension schemes have been clased ta new mermbers for a number of years and ail schemes are now closed to future accrual, apart from a
small sub-section of the Paymaster Pension Scheme

The present value of the defined benefit obligation consists of approximately £6.0m relating 10 active employees, £53.8m relating to deferred
members and £51.5m relating to members in retirement.
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POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

The investrnent strategy of the plans is set taking into account a number of factors, including the protile and value of plan hatilities, the strength
of the employer covenant and the long-term funding objectives agreed with the employer. The schemes have a broad allocation of investments i
return-seeking assets, with the remamning allocated to liability matching assets, designed to partially offset the movements in the scheme
liabilities caused by maovements in interest rates and inflation. The asset split reflects the Trystees' view of the most appropriate investments,
balancing the risk/reward characteristics of the funds the Scheme 1s invested in.

Pension plan assets are valued at fair value, Quoted equities and debt instruments on a recognised stock exchange are valued at the closing
market price as at the valuation date. Exchange traded and over-the-counter derivative instruments are valued at the settlement price or at the
latest valuation for such instruments on the valuation date. Cash and other illiquid assets will be valued at their face value plus accrued interest at
the valuation date

The Group 15 exposad ta a number of risks through its defined benefit pension plans, the most significant of which are described below:

& Investment risk - Scheme growth assets are invested in a dversified portfolio of debt securities, equities and other returr-seeking assets such
as pooled private market funds. If the assets underperfarm the discount rate used to czlculate the defined berefit chiigation, the net pension
plan Labilities will increase.

& Interest rate risk - A decrease in corporate hond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this is likely to be partially offset by an increase in
the value of the plans' bond/liability driven investment holdings.

e Inflation risk - The majority of the habilines are linked to inflation, although in most cases. caps on the level of inflation increases are in place
to protect the scheme against extrerne inflation. An increase in inflation rates will lead to higher fiabilities, although this is ikely to be partially
offset by an increase in the value of some of the plans’ liability driven investments.

® Langevity risk - The pension plans provide benefits for the life of the members, therefore increases in life expectancy will result in an increase
in the plans' liakilities,

The Group are aware of these risks and manage them through investment and funding strategies.

Defined benefit plan - ICS Pension Scheme

On 30 Novermbear 2022, the Group sold its Equiniti ICS Ltd business (see note 4.2) and the iCS pension scheme remained in that company.
Therefore the last fult actuanial valuation carried out at 31 Decermnber 2021 has since been updated to 30 November 2022 by a qualified
independent actuary and at 31 December 2022 no further hability remained in the Group.

2022 2021

£m £m

Present value of abiigations {10.1} {13.9}
Fair value of plan assets 10.6 14,2
Recognised liability for defined benefit obligations at 30 November 2022 0.5 0.3
Disposal inote 4.2) (0.5) -
Recognised liability for defined benefit obligations 31 December - 0.3

2022 2021

Movement in present value of defined benefit obligation £m £m
Balance at 1 January 13.9 14.2
Interest cost 0.2 0.2

Actuarial losses - changes in financial assumptions (3.9 {0.7)
Actuarial gains - changes in demographic assumptions - Q3
Actuarial gains - other experience items 0.2 Q.4

Benefits pad (0.3) {0.5)
Defined benefit obligation at 30 November 10.1 13.9

2022 2021

Movement in fair value of plan assets fm £m
Balance at 1 January 14.2 13.3
Interest income 0.2 0.2
Return on plan assets {3.6) 1.0
Employer contributions 01 0.2
Benefits paid {0.3) {0.5)
Fair value of plan assets at 30 November 10.6 14.2

2022 2021

Experse recognised in the income statement £m £m
Interest cost 0.2 0.2
Interest income (0.2 {0.2)
Total expense - -
2022 2021

Actuarial gains and |osses recognised in other comprehensive income £m £m
Cumulative gain at 1 January 0.9 -
Actuarial gains reccgnised in other comprehensive income 0.1 0.9
Cumulative gain at 31 December 1.0 0.9
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POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED}

2022 2021
Plan assets are comprised of the following: £m £m
Quoted equities 13 4.0
Corporate bonds 11 1.2
Diversified growth funds 2.0 2.7
Liability-driven investment funds 23 2.8
{liquid asset funds 33 33
{ash 0.6 0.2
Fair value of plan assets at 30 November 10.6 14.2
Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations: 2022 2021
hscount rate 4.44% 1.93%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment 1.96%3.12% 2 11%-3.33%
Rate of increase for pensions in deferment 2.21%-3.21% 2.46%-3.46%
Inflaticn assumption 2.21%-3.21% 2.46%-3.46%

Weighted average life expectancy for mortality tables (107% SAPS S2PMA, 107% SAPS S2FA, 107% SAPS $2PA CMI 2021 with 0.5% adjustment,
1.0% long-term trend) used ta determine benefit obligations at 30 November

2022 2021
Male Female Male Female
Member age 65 (current ife expectancy) 86.4 88.4 86.3 885
Member age 45 (life expectancy at 65) 87.4 89.7 87.3 87

Contributions
Equiniti ICS Ltd was sold outside the group on 30 November 2022 and made a final contribution to the ICS pension scheme of £0 7man 2022 as

part of the disposal agreement

Defined benefit plan - Paymaster Pension Scheme
A full actuanal valuation was carried out at 31 December 2021 and has since been updated to 31 December 2022 by a gualified independent

2022 2021

£m £m

Present value of obligations {47.0) (69.7}
Fair value of plan assets 343 49.2
Recoghised liabilities for defined benefit obligations {12.7) {20.5)
2022 2021

Movement in present value of defined benefit obligation £Em £m
Balance at 1 lanuary 69.7 719
Current service cost 0.1 0.1
Interest cost 13 10
Actuarial losses - change in financial assumptions {26.7) {1.4)
Actuarial gains - change in demagraphic assumptions 02 03
Actuarral losses/(gains} - ather experience items 4.2 (0.7)
Benefits paid (1.8) {15}
Defined benefit obligation at 31 December 47.0 69.7
2022 2021

Movemerit in fair value of plan assets £m £m
Balance at 1 January 49,2 45.2
Interest income 09 08
Return on plan assets {15.9] 3.3
Ernployer contributions 2.1 19
Benefits paid (1.8} (1.5
Administration expenses (0.2} (0.3)
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 34.3 49,2
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POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEF TS (CONTINUED)

2022 2021
Expense recognised in the income statement £m £m
Current service cost 01 0.1
Administration expenses 0.2 0.3
Interest cost 132 1.0
Interest incame 10.9) {0.6)
Total expense 0.7 0.7
2022 2021
Actuarial gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income £rm £m
Curmnulative loss at 1 fanuary - -
Actuanal gains recognised in other comprehensive income 6.4 -
Cumuiative gain at 31 December 6.4 -
Plan assets - weighted average asset allocations at year end: 2022 2021
Equities 24% 24%
Corporate bonds 53% 53%
Cash 23% 23%
100% 100%
2022 2021
Plan assets are comprised of the following: £m £m
Private equity and drversifiad grawtit furds 14.1 21.7
Liability-driven investment funds 11.2 190
Ihguid asset funds 82 8.1
Cash and other Q.8 0.4
Fair value of pian assets at 31 December 34.3 492

Plan assets are primarily pooled into fund arrangements. As a result, the above disclosure of plan assats has been made at this level. Al funds are

considered unqusted as the funds are not exchange traded.

Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations: 2022 2021
Discount rate 4.78% 1.91%
Rate of compensation increase 4% - 4.5% 2.00%
Rate of increase for pensians in payment 2.10%3.23%  2.16%-3.31%
Rate of increase for pensicns in deferment 2.23%3.23% 2.31%-3.31%
Inflation assumption 3.23% 3.31%

Weighted average life expectancy for mortality tables [99% SAPS S2PMA, 87% SAPS S2PFA CMI 2021 2020 W5% 2021 W5% with 0.5% initial

addittan and 1% long term trend used to determine benefit obligations at 31 December:

2022 2021
Male Female Male Female
Member age 65 {(current hfe expectancy] 86.5 89.7 86.4 89.8
Member age 45 {life expectancy at 65) 87.7 91.0 876 1.0

Cantributions
Paymaster (1836} Limited expects to contribute £2.5m of additional funding to its penston plan in 2023.

Defined benefit plan - Prudential Platinum Pension - MyCSP Limited

The latest full actuanial valuation was carried out as at 31 December 2021 and has since been updated to 31 December 2022 by a qualified

independent actuary.

2022 2021

fm £m

Present value of obligations (6.6) {11.8)
Fair value of plan assets 4.7 3.6

Recognised liabilities for defined benefit obligations (1.9) (3.2)

2022 2021

Movement in present value of defined benefit obligation £m £m
Balance at 1 January 11.8 11.5
Interest cost 0.2 Q.2
Actuarial gains - change In financial assumptions (8.1) (©.1)
Actuarial gains - change in demographic assumptions (C.1) -
Actuznal losses - other exfierience items 10 0.3
Benefits paid {G.2) {0.1)
Defined benefit obligation at 31 December 6.6 11.8
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POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

2022 2021
Movement in fair value of plan assets £m £m
Balance at 1 January g6 7.9
Interest income Q.2 0.1
Return on plan assets (4.1} 0.5
Employer contributions 03 0.3
Benefits paid (0.2) {0.1)
Adrministration expenses @.1) (0.1}
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 4.7 8.6
2022 2021
Expense recognised in the income statement £m £m
Administration expenses 0.1 01
Interest cost 02 02
Interest income (0.2} {0.1)
Total expense 0.1 0.2
2022 2021
Actuarial gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income £m £m
Curmulative gain at 1 January 0.3 -
Actuarial gains recognised in other comprehensive income 1.1 Q.3
Curnulative gain at 31 Decernber 1.4 0.3
2022 2021
Plan assets are comprised of the following: fm £m
Overseas equities 1.0 1.8
Diversified growth fund 11 2.4
Liability-driven debt instrurments 2.6 38
Index inked debt instruments - 0.4
Cash - 0.1
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 4.7 86

Plan assets are primarily pooled into fund arrangements. As a result, the above disclesure of plan assets has been made at this level. Alf funds are
considered unquoted as the funds are not exchange traded.

Weighted average assumptions used te determine benefit obligations: 2022 2021
Discount rate 4.71% 1.86%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment 2.16%-3.06% 2.17%3.07%
Rate of increase for pensions in deferment 2.16%-3.06% 2.17%-307%
Inflation assumption 3.16% 3.17%

Weighted average life expectancy for mortality tables (104% SAPS S2PMA, 104% SAPS S2PFA, CMI 2021, 1.0% LTR, O.50% initizl addition) used to
determine benefit abligations at 31 December:

2022 2021
Male Female Male Female
Member age 65 {current [ife expectancy) 368 83.1 £6.6 886
Member age 45 {life expectancy at 65) 87.7 90.3 87.5 89.8

Contributions
MyCSP Limited expects ta contribute £0.4m of additional funding to its pension plan in 2023.
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Definer henefit plan - Prudential Platinum Pension - Equiniti Services Limited
The latest full actuarial valuation was carried out as at 31 Decernber 2021 and has since been updated to 31 December 2022 by a qualified
independent actuary.

2022 2021
£m £m
Present value of obligations {0.8) (0.8]
Fair value of plan assets 0.8 0.5
Recognised asset for defined benefit obligations 0.2 0.1
2022 2021
Movement ih present value of defined benefit obligation £m £m
Balance at 1January 0.8 Q.7
Current service cost 0.2 a1
Actuarial losses - charge in financial assumptions 0.4)
Defined benefit obligation at 31 December 0.6 0.8
2022 2021
Movement in fair value of plan assets £m £m
Balance at 1January Q.9 a7
Return on plan assets {0.4) -
Employer contributions 0.3 02
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 0.8 0.9
2022 2021
Actuarial gains and losses recogrised in other comprehensive incorme £m £m
Cumulative loss at 1 January . B
Actuarial losses recognised in other comprehensive incame - -
Curnulative loss at 31 Oecember - -
2022 2021
Plan assets are comprised of the following: £m fm
Quoted corparate debt instruments 0.4 0.4
Index inked Government debt instruments 0.4 Q.5
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 0.8 0.9
Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations: 2022 2021
Discount rate 4.73% 1.85%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment 2.18%-3.08% 2.09%-2.9%%
Rate of increase for pensions in deferment 2.18%- 3.08% 2.09%-2.95%
Inflation assurnption 3.18% 3.08%

Weighted average life expectancy for mortality tables (100% SAPS S2PMA. 100% SAPS S2PFA, CMI 2021, 10% long-term trend, Q.5% initial
addition) used to determine benefit cbligations at 31 December:

2022 2021
Male Fernale Male Female
Member age 55 (current life expectancy} 87.1 39.1 87.1 £5.0
Member age 45 (life expectancy at 65) 88.1 90.3 88.1 50.3

Contributions
Equiniti Services Limited expects ta cantribute £0.2 of additional funding ta its pension plan in 2023,
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9.3 POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS ([CONTINUED)

Defined benefit plan - D.F. King & Company, Inc Pension Plan
The latest actuarnal valuation was carried out as at 31 December 2022 by a qualified mdependent actuary.

2022 2021
£m £m
Present value of obligations (13.6) (15.2}
Fair value of plan assets 10.4 115
Recognised liability for defined benefit obiigations (3.2) 20
2022 2021
Movement in present value of defined henefit obligation £m £m
Balance at 1 January 15.2 15.3
Interast cost 0.4 0.4
Actuanal gains -~ change in financial assumptions (3.7} {0.3)
Actuanial gains - change in demaographic assumptions - (0.1)
Actuarial losses - other experience items 0.6 0.1
Benefits paid 0.7 {0 6)
Transiation adjustment 18 {0.2)
Defined benefit obligation at 31 December 13.6 15.2
2022 2021
Mavement in fair value of plan assets £m £m
Balance at 1 January 115 9.4
Return on plan assets a4 0.6
Employer contributions - Q.7
Actuarial {losses)/ gains - other exparience items {32.1) is5
Benefits paid (0.7 {0.6)
Translation adjustmeant 1.3 {0.1)
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 10.4 11.5
2022 2021
Actyarial gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income £m £m
Cumulative gain at 1 January 25
Actuarial gains recognised in ather comprehensive iIncome 1.0 2.5
Cumulative gain at 31 Decamnber 3.5 25
2022 2021
Plan assets are comprised of the following: £m £m
Equity 3.9 58
Bonds 6.4 5.8
Cash Q.1 0.1
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 10.4 11.5
Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations: 2022 2021
Discount rate 4,95% 2.63%
Inflation assumption 4.37% 6.75%

Woeighted average Iife expectancy for martality tables (Pri-2012 mortality Table projected generationally using Scale MP-2021) used to determine
benefit obligations at 31 December:

2022 2021
Male Female Male Female
Member age 65 {current Iife axpectancy) 85.6 876 855 875
Member age 45 (Iife expectancy at 65} 84.1 85.9 86.9 88.8

Contributions
EQ 15 not expected to contribute additional funding to its pension plan in 2023,
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9.4

9.5

9.6

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Company. along with other companies in the Group, has provided a guarantee in relation to & Senior Facilities Agreement comprising term
loans and a revolving eredit facility made available to Equiniti Holdings Limited and Armar Holdca, Inc. The faciliies comprise term loans of
£200.0m and US$630.0m, and a multicurrency revolving credit facility of $175.0m, of which the drawn balance was £nil at 31 December 2022
{2021 - £nil). The term loan facilities are repayable in 2028,

Certain entities 1n the Group are party to legal actions and claims which may arise in the narmal course of business. The Directors apply
judgement in determining the merit of litigation against the Group and the chances of a claim successfully being made. The Directors assess the
likelihood of an outflow of aconomic benefits oeccurring and whether there 1s a need to disclose a contingent liability or whether a prowsion might
be required. At any time there are a number of clams or notifications that require assessment across the Group. While there are inherent
uncertainties in the outcome of such matters, the Directors cansider the likelhood of a matenal cash outflow to be remote in relation to thesa
claims.

ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

The ultimate parent and controlling party is Orbit Private GP, LLC, a limited company registered and domiciled in the Cayman Islands. Orbit Private
Haldings | Ltd 1s both the largest and smallest group for which group financial statement are drawn up and of which the company 15 a member.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

There have beer no other material events batween 31 December 2022 and the date of authorisation of the conschdated financial statements
that would require disclasure within, or adjustments to, the consalidated financial statements.
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2022 2021
Note £m £m
Assets
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 8 522.8 621.4
622.8 621.4
Current assets
{ncome tax receivable 0.2 -
0.2 -
Total assets 623.0 621.4
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accruals and deferred income 1.0 1.2
Intercompany 1.0 -
Total liabilities 2.0 1.2
Net assets 621.0 £620.2
Equity
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Cailed up Share capital 9 521.4 621.4
Accumulated losses {0.4} (1.2)
Total equity 621.0 620.2
The Campany's loss for the year was £0.6m (2021: £1.2m}. The notes on pages 92 - 96 form part of these financial statements.
The financial statements of Orbit Private Holdings | Ltd on pages 90 - 91 were approved by the Board of Directors on 4 May 2023

and were signed on its behalf by:

P Lynam - Executive Director
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Called up Accumulated Total

share capital losses equity

£m £m £m

Balance at 19 May 2021 - - .

Comprehensive loss

Loss far the financial period - (1.2} (1.2)
Total comprehensive expense - (1.2) (1.2}
Issue of share capital, net of transaction ¢osts (note 8) 621.4 - 621.4
Transactions with owners recognised directly in equity 6214 - 621.4
Balance at 31 December 2021 621.4 {1.2) 620.2
Called up Accumulated Total
share capital losses eguity
£m £m £m

Balance at 1 January 2022 621.4 (1.2) 620.2

Comprehensive |oss

Loss for the financial year - {0.6) (0.6)
Tutal comprehensive expense - (0.6) (0.5)
Share based payments - 1.4 1.4
Transactions with owners recognised directly in equity - 1.4 1.4
Balance at 31 December 2022 G214 (0.4} 621.0

The notes an pages 92 - 96 form part of these financial statements.
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Orbit Private Haldings | Ltd {the Company} is a private limited company, limited by shares, and is incorporated and domiciled in
England, United Kingdom. The principal activity of the Company is that of a holding company. The registered office address is
Highdown House, Yeoman Way, Worthing, West Sussex, BN39 3HH.

The Company was incorporated an 19 May 2021.

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION
2.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Staterment of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework {"FRS 101"), under the historical cast convention, as modified by derivative financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value through profit or loss, and in accordance with the Compantes Act 2006, as applicable to companies using FRS 101.

Summary of disclosure exemptions
The following disclosure exemptions from the requirements of IFRS have been applied in the preparation of these financial
statements, in accordance with FRS 101:

® |AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, paragraphs:
- 10(d) - Statement of cash flows
- 16 - Statement of compliance with all IFRS
- 38B-D - Additional comparative information in respect of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment paragraph 73(e) and 1AS 38
Intangible Assets paragraph 118(e)
- 134 to 136 - Capital management disclosures
IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows
IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, paragraphs 30 and 31 - New standards issued but not yet
effective

e |AS 24 Related Party Disclosures, paragraphs 17 and 18A - Certain key management personnel information and related party
disclosures with transactions entered inta between wholly owned group companies

® |AS 36 Imparrment of Assets, paragraphs 134{d) to 134(f) and 135(c) to 135{e} - Key assumptions and estimates used to measure
value in use of cash-generating units

® IFRS 2 Share-based Payments, paragraphs 45{t) and 46 to 52 - Exemption from disclosing the number of share options and how the
fair values were deterrmined

® IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

e IFRS 13 Fair Vaiue Measurement, paragraphs 91 to 99 - Valuation techniques and inputs used for fair value measurement of assets
and labilities

e IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, paragraphs 110, 113{a), 114, 115, 118, 119(a) to (¢}, 120 to 127 and 129 - Detailed
revenue disclosures

® IFRS 16 Leases, paragraph 58 - Maturity analysis of lease liabilities

Basis of preparation

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the Company financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated. These financial statements have heen
prepared on the going concern basis and under the historical cost convention. The Company's functional and presentational
currency is the British Pound {£),

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption provided under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to publish its
individual statement of comprehensive income and related notes. The Company made a loss of £0.6m in the year {2021 £1.2m

loss}.
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2.1

2.2

23

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {(CONTINUED})

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are carried at historical cost less any provisions for impairment.
Share based payments

The Company granted a number of incentive rights {"IRs") to Executive Committee members and selected employees of its
subsidiaries. Each IR represents a contingent right to receive payment in the form of shares upon the occurrence of a liguidity or
sale pvent, The fair value of the IR's, which are equity settled, is recognised in the performance share plan reserve. A corresponding
intercompany receivable is also recognised, as the share based payment expense is recognised in the subsidiary which employs the
individual receiving the IRs.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where the Company acquires its own ordinary shares, the consideration paid is recorded as a deduction from equity.

NEW STANDARDS ANO AMENDMENTS ADGPTED
There were no new standards adopted by the Company in the year.

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED

There are no new IFRSs or IFRS IC interpretations not yet adopted which would be expected to have a material impact on the
financial statements of the Company.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

There are no accounting policias where the use of judgements and estimates is determined to be significant to the financial
statements.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Campany has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial Instruments:
- credit risk
- hquidity risk

The strategy and objectives for managing credit and hquidity risk are covered in the Treasury Policies of the Orbit Private Holdings i Ltd
group of companies (the Group), which includes the Company. These policies are appraoved annually by the Board and compliance is
manitored on a monthly basis through the Treasury Committee. The Group's Audit & Risk Committee also oversees how management
monitors compliance with these policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framewark. The Audit &
risk Committee is assisted in its aversight role by internal audit, which undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management
contrals and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

Further information regarding the Group's financia! risks and risk management pclicies can be found in note 6.11 to the consalidated
financial statements.

4  CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company's objectives when managing capital are to maximise shareholder value whilst safeguarding the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern. Total capital is calculated as total equity on the statement of financial position.

Management of capital: 2022 2021
£m £m

Equity 621.0 620.2

Total equity 6521.0 620.2

5  AUDITORS' REMUNERATION
The audit fees for these financial statements of £20,000 (2021: £20,000) were barne by a fellow Group company.
6  STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

There were na persons employed directly by the Company, other than the Directors, and therefore no staff costs were incurred {2021

none).

7 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Where Directars receive remuneration for their services, they receive remuneration for services to the Group as a whole and their
remuneration is borne by fellow Group companies, without recharge to the Company. Their remuneration (s disclosed in note 7.1 to the
Group's consolidated financial statements. No Directors receive remuneration for their services provided to the Company {2021: none].
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8  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Company has the following investments in subsidiaries:

2022 2021

Cost and net boaok value £m £m
At beginning and end of the year 621.4 -
Additions 1.4 621.4
Total investment in subsidiaries 522.8 621.4

The Directors consider the value of the Investment to be supported by its underlying assets. The Company has the following direct
investments In subsidiaries:

Ownership % on  Ownership % on

Registered office Principal 31 December 31 December
Name of controlled entity address activities 2022 2021
Qrbit Private Holdings It Ltd Highdown House, Yeoman Way, Holding 100 100
Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 3HH, company
Armor Holdeo, Inc 2711 Centerville Road, Suite 400, Holding 100 100

Wilmington, DE 19808, United States company

The above investments are held in the Ordinary share capital of the companies. A full list of the Company's indirect investments is
included in note 4.6 to the consolidated financial statements.

9  SHARE CAPITAL

2022 2021
Allotted, called up and fully paid £m £m
Shares issued 621.4 621.4
Balance at 31 December 621.4 621.4

2022 2021
Ordinary shares of £0.001 each Number Number
Shares issued 621,446,005 621,446,005
Balance at 31 December 621,446,005 621,446,005

The Cormpany issued 621,446,005 ordinary shares for consideration of £621.4m in the prior period.
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10 DIVIDENDS

No dividends were paid in the year and the Board has not recommended a final dividend payable in respect of the year ended 31
December 2022 (none in 2021},

11 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

The Company has an equity-settled long term incentive plan in place giving rise to certain incentive rights {"IR"]. These represent a
contingent right to receive payment in the form of shares upon the occurence of aliguidity or sale event. Share-based payments
disclosures relevant to the Company are presented within note 7.2 to the consolidated financial statements.

12 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Company, slong with other companies in the Group, has provided a guarantee in relation to a Senior Facilities Agreement
comprising term loans and a revolving credit facility made available to Equiniti Holdings Limited and Armor Holdco, Inc. The facilities
comprise term loans of £200.0m and US$630.0m, bath facilities are repayable in 2028; and a multicurrency revolving credit facility of
£175.0m, of which the drawn balance was £nil at 31 Dacemnber 2022 (2021: £nil).

13 ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY
The Company's immediate parent undertaking is Orbit Private Investments, L.?, a limited partnership registered and domialed in the

Cayman Islands. The ultimate controlling party 1s Orbit Private GP, LLC, a limited company registered and damiciled in the Cayman
Islands. The Company is the parent of the largest group in which these financial statements are consolidated.
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